THE VON WEIZSÄCKER AND EXCHANGE CORRECTIONS IN THE THOMAS FERMI THEORY

nunggggggg

RAFAEL BENGURIA



THE VON WEIZSÄCKER AND EXCHANGE CORRECTIONS IN THE THOMAS FERMI THEORY

Rafael Benguria

A DISSERTATION

PRESENTED TO THE

FACULTY OF PRINCETON UNIVERSITY

IN CANDIDACY FOR THE DEGREE

OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

RECOMMENDED FOR ACCEPTANCE BY THE

DEPARTMENT OF

PHYSICS

June 1979

To Maria Cristina

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is a pleasure to thank Professor Elliott Lieb. He suggested the problems of this dissertation and provided continuous encouragement as well as many ideas during the period this work was carried out.

I would like to thank Professors Barry Simon for a critical reading of the manuscript, Haim Brezis for valuable help in some of the technical points of Chapter 3, and Michael Aizenman for valuable discussions.

I also thank Bobbie Cruser for very expert typing.

I wish to thank especially Maria Cristina for her encouragement and understanding.

This publication was supported in part by National Science Foundation grants PHYS-7825390 and MCS 75 21684 A 02 to Princeton University.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Ab	ď	+	~	2	~	+
ΔU	-	١.	.1.	a	u	L.,

Chapter O	ne: Introduction	
Chapter T	wo: Study of a Variational Principle Related to the TF Theory	8
2.1.	Variational Principle	
2.2.	Minimization of $\xi(\rho,V)$ on W_{λ}	. 13
	Connection with the Euler Equation	1.
2.4.	Minimization with $\int \rho = \lambda$	18
2.5.	No-binding Theorem	22
2.6.	Components of the Energy, Virial Theorem, Scaling Relations and Definision of the Pressure	24
2.7.	Regularity Properties of the Minimizing Solution	28
2.8,	Review of Recent Developments in the TF Theory: $f(\rho) = \rho^{5/3}$.	29
Chapter T	hree: "The Exchange Correction"	35
3.1.	The Relaxed Problem	37
3.2.	Connection Between the Relaxed Problem and the TFD Variational Principle	40
3.3.	Properties of the Minimizing Solution	42
Chapter F	our: The Thomas-Fermi vonWeizsäcker Theory	45
4.1.	The TFW Functional	47
4.2.	Existence of a Solution in Γ_{λ}	53
4.3.	Connection with the TFW Equation	55
4.4.	The One-Center Case: TFW Atom	58
4.5.	Components of the Energy, Virial Theorem, Scaling and Pressure	64
Chapter F:	ive: The Firsov's Variational Principle	68
5.1.	Existence of Uniqueness of a Solution	70
Appendix	,	74
References	3	77

ABSTRACT

Two corrections to the Thomas-Fermi theory of atoms are studied. First the correction for exchange, that is the effect of the Pauli principle in the interaction energy, is considered. The defining variational problem is non-convex and standard techniques to prove existence of a minimizing solution do not apply. Existence and uniqueness of solutions are established by "convexifying" or "relaxing" the energy functional. Properties of minimizing solutions are studied. A second correction due to von Weizsäcker is also discussed. This is an inhomogeneous correction to the kinetic energy density of the form $c_{\nu}(\nabla\sqrt{\rho})^2$ which was introduced to obtain the correct behavior of the electron density ρ far away and very close to the nuclei. Existence and uniqueness of solutions in the set $\{\rho \mid \int \rho < \lambda\}$ are established. Only in the atomic case existence of solutions in the set $\{\rho \mid \ \int \rho = \lambda\}$ is determined. There are two major open problems left concerning this correction namely, to establish existence of solutions in the set $\{\rho\,\big|\,\,\,\int\rho\,=\,\lambda\,\}$ in the molecular case and proving the existence of molecules (binding) within the framework of this theory. (A serious drawback of Thomas-Fermi is the non binding theorem of Teller). Finally the dual principle to the Thomas-Fermi variational problem is studied (only in the neutral case). A dual principle is suggested for the ionic case. Also, a review of recent rigorous results concerning Thomas-Fermi theory is presented.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

Since the advent of Quantum Mechanics the impossibility of solving exactly problems involving many particles has been clear. These are of interest in such areas as Atomic and Nuclear Physics.

It was, therefore, necessary from the beginning to introduce approximative methods such as the Hartree-Fock approximation and the Thomas-Fermi theory [16, 47] (hence-forth denoted by TF).

Applications of TF to the study of matter under extremal conditions, e.g. high pressures, high temperatures or strong external fields, have achieved particular development. TF is attractive because of its simplicity and universality (the change from one element to another is effected by a simple transformation of scale). However, the applications of TF are quantitatively good only in the limiting situations mentioned above. It is for this reason that after the introduction of TF attempts have continually been made to improve it [13, 49] in order to extend the range of applicability of the model while preserving its achievements. For a review of the physics literature concerning TF and its corrections we refer to [22, 26, 36].

Although the TF theory was introduced a long time ago, it has been only recently that rigorous results have been established [31, 32, 24, 3, 4, 5, 6, 9, 11, 12]. It is the purpose of this thesis to review some of these rigorous results and to derive new ones concerning two of the correc-

tions to TF mentioned before.

The TF theory is defined by the energy functional (in units in which $h^2(8m)^{-1}(3/\pi)^{2/3} = 1$ and |e| = 1, where e and m are the electron charge and mass):

$$\xi(\rho) = (3/5) \int \rho(x)^{5/3} dx - \int V(x) \rho(x) dx +$$

$$+ (1/2) \int dx dy \rho(x) |x-y|^{-1} \rho(y) ,$$
(1.1)

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i |x-R_i|^{-1} , \qquad (1.2)$$

where the $z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_k \geq 0$ are the charges of k fixed nuclei located at R_1, R_2, \ldots, R_k . $\int\!dx$ is always a three dimensional integral. This functional is defined for single particle densities $\rho(x) \geq 0$ (such that $\int \rho$ and $\int \rho^{5/3}$ are finite). The TF energy for λ (not necessarily integral) electrons is defined by

$$E(\lambda) = \inf \{ \xi(\rho) \mid \int \rho = \lambda \}. \tag{1.3}$$

The first term in (1.1) is supposed to approximate the kinetic energy of the electrons. This particular form is suggested by the calculation of the kinetic energy per unit volume for a system of N fermions in a cubic box of volume V, which for large N is proportional to $(N/V)^{5/3}$. This approximation, with an appropriate multiplicative constant, is in fact a lower bound for the kinetic energy [28, 34].

The second term of $\xi(\rho)$, which represents the nucleon-electron attraction, is exact. The third term describes the electronic repulsion and it is only an approximation: it takes into account only the "direct" part of the true Coulomb repulsion (see Chapter 3 below).

It is known [32] that for $\lambda \leq z \equiv \sum_{i=1}^k z_i$ there is a unique minimizing ρ for $\xi(\rho)$. It is the unique solution to the TF equation

$$\rho(x)^{2/3} = \max [\phi(x) - \phi_0, 0], \qquad (1.4)$$

for some $\phi_{O} \ge 0$ and with

$$\phi(x) = V(x) - \int dy \ \rho(y) \ |x-y|^{-1}$$
 (1.5)

 $-\phi_{O}$ is the chemical potential [32], i.e.

$$\frac{dE}{d\lambda} (\lambda) = - \phi_{o} .$$

For $\lambda \leq z$, $\phi > 0$ all x. $\phi_O = 0$ if and only if $\lambda = z$ and hence for the neutral case the TF equation is

$$\rho^{2/3} = \phi \qquad . \tag{1.6}$$

If $\lambda > z$ there is no minimizing ρ for (1.3) and $E(\lambda) = E(z)$ in this case. The energy of an isolated atom is $E(z) = -Kz^{7/3}$

where K = 3.678 by numerical computation. It is convenient to introduce the total energy

$$e(z, R) = e(z_1, ..., z_k; R_1, ..., R_k) \equiv E(z) + U,$$

where $U = \sum_{1 \le i < j \le k} z_i z_j \mid_{R_i} - R_j \mid^{-1}$ is the nucleon-nucleon $1 \le i < j \le k$ repulsion. It is a known, and rather negative, result that molecules in TF do not bind [46, 32]. In fact if one separates the nuclei into clusters and then takes them to infinity the energy $e(\underline{z},\underline{R})$ decreases. Moreover, there are no local minima of the energy in terms of the nuclei configuration \underline{R} . If one dilates uniformly $\underline{R} \longrightarrow \ell \underline{R}$ (ℓ > 0), the energy always decreases [5]. For a review of additional rigorous results see Section 2.8 below.

The main concern throughout this thesis are the variational problems associated with TF and its corrections. In Chapter 2 a generalization of the functional (1.1) is considered. The kinetic energy density is replaced by a more general local, convex function of the electron density ρ (equation (2.3) below). Most of the results about TF hold for this new functional. In particular the existence of a unique minimizing solution for $\lambda \leq z$ is established and, as before, no solution for $\lambda > z$ exists. Moreover, the nobinding theorem also holds. This no-binding theorem is in fact a consequence of the local dependence of the kinetic energy density on ρ . We introduce this general

model and discuss its properties because we need them in the discussion of the TF with the correction for exchange. This correction consists in adding a term - (3/4) $c_e \int \rho^{4/3}$ (c is a positive constant) to the TF functional (1.1), which is meant to be an approximation for the exchange or "indirect" part of the true electronic repulsion (see Chapter 3). In fact all the properties of this theory would follow directly from the results of Chapter 2 if it were not that the introduction of exchange destroys the convexity of the functional. Following known techniques [15], we consider a convex functional instead by replacing $g(\rho) \equiv \frac{3}{5} \rho^{5/3} - \frac{3}{4} c_e \rho^{4/3}$ by a function $\tilde{g}(\rho)$ whose epigraph (i.e. the set of points above the graph of \tilde{g}) is the convex hull of the epigraph of $g(\rho)$. The function \tilde{g} and thus the functional associated with it are convex in ρ . Therefore, this new functional (usually called the relaxed functional) is a particular example of the one studied in Chapter 2 and thus, existence and uniqueness of solutions for this relaxed problem are established at once. We then prove that the minimizing solution $\bar{\rho}$ for the relaxed problem has the property that the set of points where $g(\overline{\rho}(x))$ differs from $\widetilde{g}(\overline{\rho}(x))$ has (Lebesgue) measure zero. This implies that $\bar{\rho}$ is also a solution to the original non-convex problem. Finally, some properties of the minimizing solution are proven.

In Chapter 4 another correction is considered. This is a correction to the kinetic energy density of the form $c_{_{\mathbf{W}}}(\nabla\sqrt{\rho})^2$, introduced by von Weizsäcker [49] in order to obtain the correct behavior of the electron density far away and very close to the nuclei. (In the TF theory the electron density falls off as $|x|^{-6}$, rather than exponentially, for large distances [44]. Close to the nuclei behaves as $|x - R_i|^{-3/2}$, which diverges. The fact that the TF density describes very badly the outer shell of the atoms is reflected in the absence of molecules in this theory). The resulting functional is not anymore of the form considered in Chapter 2. It is, however, convex and standard techniques can be applied to prove existence and uniqueness of a minimizing ρ at least on the set $\{\rho \mid \int \rho \leq \lambda\}$. The question of existence of solutions on the set $\{\rho \mid \int \rho = \lambda\}$ is harder and it is left as an open problem. In the atomic case (V(x) = $\left|\mathbf{z}\left|\mathbf{x}\right|^{-1}\right)$, however, we show that there is a unique minimizing solution on $\{\rho \mid \ \int \rho = \lambda\}$ for $\lambda \leq z$. It also remains as an open problem to determine the largest λ for which this is still true. In the TF von-Weizsäcker theory the kinetic energy density is no longer local in ρ and the no-binding theorem does not apply. It is an important open problem to determine if binding is possible in this theory. There are numerical indications [21] and heuristic arguments [2], that this is indeed so. We do not, unfortunately, present any result concerning binding. The rest of Chapter 4 is spent

in discussing regularity and other properties of the minimizing solution.

In Chapter 5 the dual to the TF variational problem is discussed (only the neutral case is considered). This new variational problem, known as Firsov's principle [18], is the dual to TF in the sense that it is a maximization problem rather than a minimization one and that both have the same value, i.e. max ξ_{FIRSOV} (f) = min ξ_{TF} (ρ). Here f is the electron f potential $f(x) = \int \!\! \mathrm{d}y \; \rho(y) \; |x-y|^{-1}$. Having this dual principle is very useful in estimating lower bounds to TF energies. It has been particularly used in studying the behavior of the two-body atomic potential [19, 48] for short and long distances. The existence of a unique maximizing solution \bar{f} for $\xi_{\text{FIRSOV}}(\cdot)$ is determined by proving that V- \bar{f} satisfies the TF equation (1.6) for the neutral case and appealing to the results of [32]. In the Appendix to Chapter 5 the dual principle for the ionic case is suggested.

To conclude this introduction we note that throughout this thesis the emphasis is on the variational problems defined by TF and its corrections. We have left perhaps the most important question aside namely, to establish the connection between TF, with these corrections included, and the original quantum mechanical system. It is known [32] that the TF theory gives binding energies (~ $z^{7/2}$) which are asymptotically exact in the large z limit. Is the TF, with the two corrections discussed here included, correct up to order $z^{5/3}$? (This is intimately related to the open problem 2 in [32]).

CHAPTER 2: STUDY OF A VARIATIONAL PRINCIPLE RELATED TO THE TF THEORY

In this chapter we study a variational principle which contains as a particular case the TF theory and which will show to be useful in the discussion of the TF theory with exchange correction (see Chapter 3). The purpose here is twofold. First we want to present a review of the rigorous results related to the TF theory that have appeared in the last few years [3, 4, 5, 6, 9, 11, 12] after the work of Lieb and Simon [31], which set TF in a firm mathematical basis. Second, we want to establish the results needed for the discussion of the TF theory with exchange. Many of the results of this chapter have been already obtained in [6], although the point of view there is the partial differential equation rather than the variational problem. We are more interested in the properties of the energy functional. The main results of this chapter are the existence theorem 2.13 and the no-binding theorem 2.14. In the last section we specialize to the TF theory and review some of its properties.

2.1. <u>Variational Principle</u>

Consider the functional:

$$\xi (\rho, V) = \int f(\rho) dx - \int V\rho dx + \frac{1}{2} \int dx dy$$
$$+ \rho(x) |x-y|^{-1} \rho(y)$$

(dx denote the Lebesgue measure in $\ensuremath{\,R^3}\xspace$), defined for ρ ϵ W with

$$W = \{\rho \mid \rho \geq 0, \rho \in L^1 \text{ and } \int f(\rho) < \infty\}$$
.

Here V ϵ L^{5/2} + L $^{\infty}$. We will be interested mainly in

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i |x-R_i|^{-1} , z_i > 0.$$
 (2.2)

The function $f: R^+ \rightarrow R^+$ is assumed to be of the form

$$f(s) = \int_{0}^{s} a(t) dt, \qquad (2.3)$$

with a(t) satisfying the following properties:

- (A-1) a(t) is continuous, a(0) = 0 and a(t) is non-decreasing for $t \ge 0$. In particular a(t) is non-negative.
- (A-2) There are positive constants c_{+} and c_{-} such that for $t \geq 1$

$$c_{+}t^{2/3} \ge a(t) \ge c_{-}t^{2/3}$$
 (2.4)

Note that (A-1) and (A-2) imply the following properties on f:

- (F-1) $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R}^+)$.
- (F-2) f is convex, non-decreasing and non-negative.
- (F-3) $f(s) \ge d s^{5/3}$ for $s \ge 1$ and some positive constant d.

(F-4)
$$\lim_{x \to 0} f(x)/x = a(0) = 0.$$

Remarks: i) The exponent 2/3 in (2.4) can be replaced by any p $\epsilon(\frac{1}{2},\ 1)$. In [6] more general p's are handled, namely $p>\frac{1}{3}$. However, for $p\leq\frac{1}{2}$ min $\xi(\rho)=-\infty$ and since the object of our interest is the energy min $\xi(\rho)$, we do not consider those cases.

ii) a function f defined by (2.4) with a(t) satisfying (A-1) and such that a > 0 for t > 0 is usually called an "N-function" [1]. If moreover a(t) satisfies (A-2) f is said to be "equivalent near infinity" to the N-function $t^{5/3}$. Associated with N-functions, there are Banach spaces called Orlicz-spaces. These spaces are the generalization of the L^p spaces, which can be considered the Orlicz-spaces associated with the N-functions t^p , $p \ge 1$. For a review see [1] or ([15], Chapter VIII, Section 2.4).

Note that if f satisfies the above properties then W c L $^{5/3}$. In fact if ρ ϵ W, (F-3) implies

$$\int \rho^{5/3} dx = \int_{\rho<1} \rho^{5/3} dx + \int_{\rho\geq1} \rho^{5/3} dx \le \int \rho dx$$

$$+ d^{-1} \int f(\rho) < \infty$$
(2.5)

and therefore $\rho \in L^{5/3}$.

Let us define

$$W_{\lambda} = \{ \rho \in W \mid \int \rho \leq \lambda \}$$
 (2.6a)

and
$$W_{\partial \lambda} = \{ \rho \in W \mid \int \rho = \lambda \}$$
 (2.6b)

The variational problem that we study here is

min
$$\{\xi(\rho, V) \mid \rho \in W_{\partial \lambda}\}$$
, (2.7)

where $\lambda > 0$ is a fixed number. Even though this seems to be a simple convex minimization problem, it need not have a solution. (Lieb-Simon [32]). The difficulty lies in the fact that, as we shall see, if ρ_n is a minimizing sequence for (2.7), then ρ_n converges weakly to $\bar{\rho}$ in $L^{5/3}$ and $\underline{\lim}~\xi(\rho_n,V) \geq \xi(\bar{\rho},V)$, but we can only assert that $\int \bar{\rho} dx \leq \lambda$. In fact if $W_{\partial \lambda}$ is replaced by W_{λ} the problem becomes much simpler [32].

2.2. Minimization of $\xi(\rho,V)$ on W_{λ} .

The proof of the existence of a solution to the variational problem

min
$$\{\xi (\rho, V) \mid \rho \in W_{\lambda}\}\$$
 (2.8)

will be based on the following well known theorem.

Theorem 2.1: Suppose I(u) is a bounded functional defined on a (sequentially) weakly closed and non-empty subset M of a reflexive Banach space X. Then, if I(u) is coercive on M (in the sense that I(u) $\rightarrow \infty$ whenever $||u||_X \rightarrow \infty$ with uEM),

and in addition I(u) is weakly lower semicontinuous on M then $c \equiv \inf I(u)$ over M is finite and attained at a point $u_O \in M$.

Proof: This theorem is standard ([7], Theorem 6.1.1; [15],
Proposition 1.2, Chapter 2) and its proof is a consequence of
the Banach-Alaoglu Theorem ([38], Theorem 4.21). |__|

In the case we are considering the Banach space is $X=L^{5/3}$ (R³, dx) which is certainly reflexive. In the next two lemmas we prove that $\xi(\rho, V)$ and W_{λ} satisfy the hypothesis of Theorem 2.1.

Lemma 2.2: (i) $\xi(\rho, V)$ is bounded on $W_{\lambda} \subset L^{5/3}$ and (ii) $\xi(\rho, V)$ is coercive on W_{λ} .

<u>Proof</u>: Since $\rho \in W_{\lambda} \subset L^{5/3}$, (i) follows from ([32], Theorem II.2). To prove (ii), note that $\int dx \ dy \ \rho(x) \ |x-y|^{-1} \ \rho(y) \ge 0$ because $|x|^{-1}$ is a positive definite kernel. Hence

$$\xi(\rho, V) \ge \int f(\rho) - \int V\rho \ge d ||\rho||_{5/3}^{5/3} - \lambda d - \int V\rho$$

where the last inequality follows from (2.5). Moreover, the decomposition V = V₁ + V₂, with V₁ \in L^{5/2}, V₂ \in L^{∞} and Hölder's inequality imply

$$-\int \nabla \rho \geq -k_1 ||\rho||_{5/3} -k_2(\lambda)$$
,

where k_1 , k_2 are constants. Hence

$$\xi(\rho, V) \ge d ||\rho||_{5/3}^{5/3} - \lambda d - k_1 ||\rho||_{5/3} - k_2 (\lambda)$$

and thus $||\rho||_{5/3} \rightarrow \infty$ implies $\xi(\rho, V) \rightarrow \infty$.

Since $\xi\left(\rho\,,\,V\right)$ is bounded on W and $\xi\left(\rho\,,V\right)\,\to\,\infty$ as $\int\,f\left(\rho\right)dx\,\to\,\infty, \text{ we can restrict our minimization sets W, W}_{\lambda}$ to be

$$W' = \{ \rho \mid \rho \geq 0, \rho \in L^{1} \quad \int f(\rho) \leq M \}$$

$$W'_{\lambda} = \{ \rho \mid \rho \in W' , \int \rho \leq \lambda \}$$

for some finite constant M.

Lemma 2.3: The set W_{λ}^{\prime} is weakly closed.

<u>Proof:</u> Note first that W'_\(\lambda\) is convex because $f(\cdot)$ is convex. Moreover W'_\(\lambda\) is strongly closed. In fact, let $\{\rho_n\}$ be a sequence in W'_\(\lambda\) with $\rho_n \to \rho$ strongly in $L^{5/3}$. This implies that there exists a subsequence $\rho_{n_{\dot{1}}}(x)$ which converges pointwise a.e. to $\rho(x)$. Since f is continuous, $f(\rho_{n_{\dot{1}}}(x)) \to f(\rho(x))$ for a.e. x. By Fatou's Lemma $\int f(\rho) < M$ and also $\int \rho < \lambda$. Therefore W'_\(\lambda\) is strongly closed. W'_\(\lambda\) being strongly closed and convex is weakly closed.

To conclude the proof of existence of a solution to the variational problem (2.8) we need only show

Lemma 2.4: $\xi(\rho, V)$ is weakly lower semicontinuous in W_{λ} .

<u>Proof:</u> (i) $\int f(\rho) dx$ is weakly lower semicontinuous because $\{\rho | \int f(\rho) \leq M\}$ is weakly closed. (ii) That $\int \rho V dx$ is continuous in the weak $L^{5/3}$ topology is proved in ([32], Theorem II.13). The idea of the proof is the following: denote by $T_R(\rho) \equiv \int dx |x|^{-1} \theta (R-|x|) \rho(x)$, (here θ denotes the step function). The operator $T_R: L^{5/3} \to R$ is a bounded linear functional so $T_R(\cdot)$ is continuous in the weak $L^{5/3}$ topology.

Moreover, $T_R(\cdot) \to T(\cdot) \equiv \int |x|^{-1}$ (.) dx uniformly in W_{λ} (because $|(T_R - T) (\rho)| \leq \lambda R^{-1}$, for all $\rho \in W_{\lambda}$), hence T is continuous. (iii) $\int \rho(x) |x-y|^{-1} \rho(y)$ dx dy is weakly lower semicontinuous because positive quadratic forms are always decreasing under weak limits [43, 32].

Lemma 2.5: If $||\rho_n - \rho||_{5/3} + ||\rho_n - \rho||_1 \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, then $\xi(\rho_n, V) \to \xi(\rho, V)$.

<u>Proof:</u> Because of ([32], Theorem II.2) we need only check that $\int f(\rho_n) \to \int f(\rho)$. Since f is convex (F-2) we have $|f(\rho) - f(\rho_n)| \le a(\max(\rho, \rho_n))(x)) |\rho - \rho_n|.$ (because a(·) is non-negative). Thus

 $\int dx |f(\rho) - f(\rho_n)| \le \int a(s_n(x)) |\rho - \rho_n| dx,$

with
$$s_n(x) \equiv max(\rho, \rho_n)(x)$$
. Then

(because of (A-1) and (A-2)). Hence, using Hölder's inequality

$$\int dx |f(\rho) - f(\rho_n)| \le a(1) ||\rho - \rho_n||_1$$

$$+ c_+ (\int_{s_n \ge 1} s_n^{5/3})^{2/5} ||\rho - \rho_n||_{5/3} \to 0$$

as
$$n \to \infty$$
. (Since $(\int_{s_n \ge 1} s_n^{5/3}) \le \int_{s_n^{5/3}} finite). |_{-}$

Let us now define

$$E(\lambda, V) \equiv \inf \{ \xi(\rho, V) \mid \rho \in W_{\partial \lambda} \}$$
 (2.9)

Lemma 2.6: ([32], Proposition 2.4). If $V \in L^{5/2} + L^p$ for some $5/2 , then, <math>E(\lambda, V) = \inf \{ \xi(\rho, V) \mid \rho \in W_{\lambda} \}$.

<u>proof:</u> Given $\rho \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3) \cap W_{\lambda}$, pick $\rho_n = \rho + n^{-1} \underset{A_n}{\times} W_{\lambda}$ where $\underset{A}{\times} I_{\lambda}$ is the characteristic function of A and A is a set disjoint from supp(ρ) with measure $n(\lambda - ||\rho||_1)$. Note that $||\rho_n - \rho||_{5/3} + ||\rho_n - \rho||_{r} \to 0$ (for every $1 < r \le 5/3$) and therefore

$$\begin{split} -\int V\rho_n + \frac{1}{2} \int \rho_n(\mathbf{x}) \, |\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}|^{-1} \rho_n(\mathbf{y}) \, &\to -\int V\rho \, + \frac{1}{2} \int \rho \, |\mathbf{x}-\mathbf{y}|^{-1} \rho \ \, \text{by using} \\ &\text{H\"older's inequality and the decomposition V} \, V\epsilon L^{5/2} \, + \, L^p. \\ &\text{Moreover } \int f(\rho) = \int f(\rho_n) \, + \, n \, f(1/n) \, \left(\lambda - \big| \big| \rho \big| \big|_1 \right), \text{ so } (F-4) \text{ implies} \\ &\int f(\rho_n) \, &\to \int f(\rho) \, \text{as } n \!\! \to \!\! \infty. \quad \text{Thus } \, \xi(\rho_n, V) \, &\to \, \xi(\rho, V) \, \text{ and} \\ &\int f(\rho_n) \, &\to \int f(\rho) \, \text{as } n \!\! \to \!\! \infty. \quad \text{Thus } \, \xi(\rho_n, V) \, \big| \, \rho \epsilon W_{\partial \lambda} \! \cap \! C_0^\infty \big\} \\ &= \inf \, \big\{ \xi(\rho, V) \, \big| \, \rho \epsilon W_{\lambda} \big\}. \end{split}$$

The last equality follows from Lemma 2.5 and the density of c_{o}^{∞} in L¹() L^{5/3}.|_|

Corollary 2.7: $E(\lambda, V)$ is a monotone non-increasing function of λ whenever $V \in L^{5/2} + L^p$, some 5/2 .

So far we have proven the existence of solutions to the variational problem (2.8) We now show that the solution is in fact unique.

Theorem 2.8: $\xi(\rho,V)$ is strictly convex in $\rho \in W$ and therefore there is a unique solution to problem (2.8).

<u>Proof:</u> $\int f(\rho)$ is convex because $f(\rho)$ is a convex function of ρ . $-\int V\rho + \frac{1}{2} \int dx \ dy \ \rho(x) \ |x-y|^{-1} \ \rho(y)$ is strictly convex because $-\int V\rho$ is linear and $|x|^{-1}$ is a strictly positive definite kernel. |-|

Corollary 2.9 ([32], Cor. II.9) Suppose $V \in L^{5/2} + L^p$ with p>5/2. Then,

- (a) If ρ_0 minimizes $\xi(\rho,V)$ on W_{λ_0} and $\int \rho_0 dx < \lambda_0$, then $E(\lambda,V) = E(\lambda_0,V)$ for all $\lambda > \lambda_0$, when $p < \infty$.
- (b) If $\xi(\rho,V)$ has a minimum on $W_{\partial\lambda}$ for all $\lambda \leq \lambda_0$, then $E(\lambda,V)$ is strictly convex on $[0,\lambda_0]$.

 In particular $E(\lambda,V)$ is convex in λ .

<u>Proof:</u> (b) follows from the strict convexity and (a) follows by noting that ρ_0 must be a minimum for $\xi(\rho,V)$ on all W. |-|

2.3 Connection with the Euler equation

Theorem 2.10:

(a) If ρ obeys the (Euler) equations:

$$a(\rho) = \phi - \phi_0 \ge 0 \text{ if } \rho > 0$$
 (2.10a)

$$0 = a(\rho) \ge \phi - \phi_0$$
 if $\rho = 0$ (2.10b)

where
$$\phi(x) = V(x) - \int dy \, \rho(y) |x-y|^{-1}$$
 (2.10c)

and
$$\int \rho dx = N$$
 (2.10d)

for some ϕ_O then $\xi(\rho,V) = E(N,V)$; $E(\lambda,V)$ is differentiable at $\lambda=N$, and

$$\phi_{O} = -\frac{\partial E(\lambda, V)}{\partial \lambda} \bigg|_{\lambda=N}$$
 (2.11)

In particular if ϕ_O = 0, then ρ minimizes $\xi(\cdot)$ on all of W. (b) If $\rho \in W_{\partial N}$ and $\xi(\rho,V)$ = E(N,V), then ρ obeys the Euler equation (2.10) and ϕ_O is given by (2.11).

<u>Proof:</u> Goes in the same way as the proof of ([32], Theorem II.10). The only fact it must be checked (to prove part 6) is that

$$\frac{\delta \xi}{\delta \rho} \equiv a(\rho) - \phi \in L^{5/2} + L^{\infty}$$
.

Note that $\phi \in L^{5/2} + L^{\infty}$, because $V \in L^{5/2} + L^{\infty}$ and $\rho * |x|^{-1} \in L^{\infty}$. Hence, we need only check that $a(\rho) \in L^{5/2} + L^{\infty}$. Decompose $a(\rho)$ as follows: $a(\rho) = a(\rho) \not\not\downarrow_{\rho \geq 1} + a(\rho) \not\not\downarrow_{\rho < 1}$ where $\not\not\downarrow_{\rho \geq 1}$ is the characteristic function of the set $\{x | \rho(x) \geq 1\}$. Now $||a(\rho) \not\not\downarrow_{\rho < 1}||_{\infty} = a(1) < \infty$, therefore $a(\rho) \not\not\downarrow_{\rho < 1} \in L^{\infty}$. also, $a(\rho) \not\not\downarrow_{\rho \geq 1} \leq c_{+}\rho^{2/3}$ because of (A-2). Since $\rho \in WCL^{5/3}$ we have $\rho^{2/3} \in L^{5/2}$ and therefore $a(\rho) \not\not\downarrow_{\rho \geq 1} \in L^{5/2}$.

Remark: This result is also proved in ([9], Proposition 3).

2.4. Minimization with $\int \rho = \lambda$

Let us consider here V of the form

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i |x-R_i|^{-1}, z_i > 0.$$
 (2.12)

Theorem 2.11: Let V be of the form (2.12). Then for $\lambda \le z$ the minimizing ρ for $\xi(\cdot,V)$ on W_{λ} has $\int \rho = \lambda$.

<u>Proof:</u> We mimick here the proof of ([32], Theorem II.18).

In more generality this theorem is proved in ([9], Theorem 4).

Suppose that the minimizing ρ has $\int \rho dx = \lambda_{o} < \lambda$. Then by Corollary 2.9, ρ minimizes $\xi(\cdot,V)$ on all of W so, by Theorem 2.10, the corresponding ϕ_{o} is 0. Thus ρ obeys $a(\rho) = \max(\phi,0)$, where ϕ is given by (2.10c), and also $\int \rho = \lambda_{o} < z$. Let R>max $|R_{j}|$. For r>R define $j=1,2,\ldots k$

$$[\phi] (r) = (4\pi)^{-1} \int_{s_2} \phi(r\Omega) d\Omega.$$

Eq. (2.10c) and $\int \rho = \lambda_0$ imply,

$$[\phi] (r) \ge (z-\lambda_0)/r.$$
 (2.13)

Now let $[\rho]$ $(r) = (4\pi)^{-1} \int \rho(r\Omega) d\Omega$. Let decompose

$$[\rho] (r) = (4\pi)^{-1} \int_{\rho>1} \rho(r\Omega) d\Omega + (4\pi)^{-1} \int_{\rho\leq 1} \rho(r\Omega) d\Omega \ge$$

$$\ge (4\pi)^{-1} \int_{\rho>1} \rho(r\Omega) d\Omega \ge c_{+}^{-3/2} (4\pi)^{-1} \int a(\rho)^{3/2} d\Omega,$$

where the last inequality follows from (2.4). Using the Euler equation for ρ and Hölder's inequality we have

$$[\rho] (r) \geq (4\pi)^{-1} c_{+}^{-3/2} \int \max(\phi, 0)^{3/2} d\Omega \geq$$

$$\geq c_{+}^{-3/2} \left[\int \max(\phi(r\Omega), 0) \frac{d\Omega}{4\pi} \right]^{3/2} \geq$$

$$\geq c_{+}^{-3/2} ([\phi] (r))^{3/2} \geq c_{+}^{-3/2} (z-\lambda_{0})^{3/2} r^{-3/2},$$

because of (2.13). Thus

$$\int \rho(x) dx = 4\pi \int [\rho](r) r^2 dr = \infty$$

which contradicts $\int \rho = \lambda_0 < z$. We conclude $\int \rho dx = \lambda$.

The second result follows after a remarkable theorem of Baxter ([3], eq. (3.2)):

Theorem 2.12: Let V be of the form (2.12). Then for $\lambda > z = \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i$ the minimizing ρ for $\xi(\cdot, V)$ on W_{λ} has $\int \rho dx = z$.

<u>Proof:</u> Because of (F-2) (i.e. f non-decreasing) the hypothesis of ([3], equation (3.2)) are satisfied and hence $E(\lambda)$ is non-

decreasing on (z,∞) . Then the theorem follows from Corollary 2.7 and the uniqueness of the minimizing ρ on W_{λ} .

Remark: This theorem can also be proven by mimicking the proof of [32, Theorem II.18]. That is, suppose that $\int \rho dx = \lambda > z$. As above define $[\phi](r)$. One can easily see that $\int \rho dx = \lambda > z$ implies $[\phi](r) < 0$ for very large r. This contradicts Lemma 2.18 below.

We can summarize the results of this first 3 sections in the following:

Theorem 2.13: Let $V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i |x-R_i|^{-1}$ with $z_i > 0$ and let $z = \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i$. If $\lambda \le z$, there is a unique ρ with $\int \rho dx = \lambda$ such that

$$f'(\rho) = a(\rho) = \max (\phi - \phi_0 0),$$

with

$$\phi(x) \equiv V(x) - \int dy \, \rho(y) \left| x - y \right|^{-1},$$

for some ϕ_{O} . Moreover:

- (i) If $\lambda=z$, $\phi_0=0$ and if $\lambda < z$, $\phi_0 > 0$.
- (ii) ϕ_{O} is given by (2.11)
- (iii) $E(\lambda,V)$ is strictly monotone decreasing on [0,z], constant on $[z,\infty)$ and convex on $[0,\infty)$.

2.5. No-binding Theorem

Let us denote by $E(\lambda,\underline{z},\underline{R})$ the minimum of ξ (',V) on $W_{\partial\lambda}$. Here \underline{z} denotes the k-tuple (z_1,\ldots,z_k) with $z_1\geq 0$. Also $\underline{R}=(R_1,\ldots,R_k)$, $R_i\in R^3$. Let us define

$$e(\lambda; \underline{z}, \underline{R}) \equiv E(\lambda, \underline{z}, \underline{R}) + \sum_{1 \le i \le j \le k} z_i z_j |R_i - R_j|^{-1}, \quad (2.14)$$

i.e. e is the total energy, including the internucleon repulsion.

In the TF model there are no molecules. In fact if one separates the nuclei into clusters and then takes them to infinity the energy e decreases. This result was first discovered numerically by Sheldon [42] (who is investigating binding in the TF theory with exchange, see Chapter 3) and then proven by Teller [46]. A rigorous proof, based on Teller's proof, was given by Lieb and Simon [32]. This result extends to a general model like the one decribed by (2.1). A very elegant proof of this fact is given in Baxter ([3], Proposition 2). His proof uses the variational principle rather than the Euler equation used in Teller's proof.

Theorem 2.14: The no-binding theorem of Teller

For any strictly positive $\left\{z_i\right\}_{i=1}^k$ any $\lambda \! > \! 0$, any $\left\{R_i\right\}_{i=1}^k$ and j=1,...,k-1:

$$e(\lambda; z_1, ..., z_k; R_1, ..., R_k)$$
 min $\{e(\lambda'; z_1, ..., z_j; 0 \le \lambda' \le \lambda\}$ (2.15)
$$R_1, ..., R_j) + e(\lambda - \lambda'; z_{j+1}, ..., z_k; R_{j+1}, ..., R_k)\}$$

Remark: For the TF case (f(ρ) = $\rho^{5/3}$) see ([32], Theorem V.2).

<u>Proof:</u> Since f(0) = f'(0) = 0 and $f(\cdot)$ is convex, f is superadditive i.e. $f(\rho_1 + \rho_2) \ge f(\rho_1) + f(\rho_2)$. Hence this theorem follows from ([3], Proposition 2).

Since in the true quantum mechanical system molecules do exist, this result of the TF theory is a negative one. However this no-binding result plays an important role in the Lieb-Thirring proof [34,28] of the stability of matter. After first showing that the TF energy with modified constant is a lower bound to the true Schröedinger energy one uses the no-binding theorem to show that this lower bound is greater than a constant times the number of atoms in the system.

The no-binding result is a consequence of the local dependence of the kinetic energy density on ρ . If one includes derivatives of ρ in the kinetic energy density binding may be possible. (see Chapter 4 below).

2.6. Components of the energy, virial theorem, scaling relations and definition of the pressure.

The results of this section are only heuristic. No rigorous proof will be given here. (However for the TF model $f(\rho)=\rho^{5/3}$ all these results are rigorously proven in [32]).

We consider V of the form (2.12). Let us define the components of $\xi(\rho,V)$:

$$K(\lambda,\underline{z},\underline{R}) = \int f(\tilde{\rho}) dx. \quad A(\lambda,\underline{z},\underline{R}) = \int \tilde{\rho}(x) V(x) dx.$$

$$R(\lambda, \underline{z}, \underline{R}) = \frac{1}{2} \int \tilde{\rho}(x) |x-y|^{-1} \tilde{\rho}(y) dx dy. \quad U(\lambda, \underline{z}, \underline{R}) =$$

$$\sum_{1 \leq i < j \leq k} z_{i} z_{j} |R_{i} - R_{j}|^{-1}.$$
(2.16)

Here $\tilde{\rho}$ denotes the minimizing ρ for $\xi\left(\cdot\,\text{,V}\right)$ on \textbf{W}_{λ} . It is also convenient to define

$$D(\lambda, \underline{z}, R) = \int f'(\rho) \rho \, dx. \qquad (2.17)$$

"Theorem 2.15": Virial Theorem (one center). (see [32], Theorem II.22).

If $V(x)=\left.z\left|x\right|^{-1}$ and if ρ minimizes $\xi\left(\cdot\,,V\right)$ on any W_{λ} , then

$$+ 3(K-D) = (R-A).$$
 (2.18)

Sketch of a proof: set $\rho_{\mu}(r) = \mu^{3} \rho(\mu r)$ so that $\rho_{\mu} \epsilon W_{\lambda}$. Then $K(\rho_{\mu}) = \mu^{-3} \int f(\mu^{3} \rho) dx$, $A(\rho_{\mu}) = \mu A(\rho)$ and $R(\rho_{\mu}) = \mu R(\rho)$. By the minimization property for ρ , $K(\rho_{\mu}) - \mu A + \mu R$ has a minimum at μ =1.

"Theorem 2.16": Let ρ minimize $\xi(\cdot,V)$ on all of W. Then for V given by (2.12)

$$D = A - 2R$$
 (2.19)

Sketch of a proof: Let $\rho_{\beta}(x) = \beta \rho(x)$. By the minimization property of ρ K(ρ_{β}) - β A + β^2 R has its minimum at β =1.

Remark: see also ([32], Theorem II.23).

For one atom theorems 2.15 and 2.16 imply

$$e = 4K - 3D$$
 $A = 5D - 6K$
 $R = 2D - 3K$.
(2.20)

In particular, for the TF theory (f(ρ) = $\rho^{5/3}$) D = $^{5K}/3$ and we have the result

K : A : R = 3: 7 : 1

(see [32], Corollary II.24).

We now consider the scaling properties of this

TF related models and we get an expression for the pressure.

For simplicity we consider here only the neutral case.

Let a>0 be a fixed parameter. Consider

$$f_a(\rho) \equiv a^{-5/3} f(a\rho)$$
.

(This particular dependence on "a" is chosen so that "a" disappears in the TF case. Of course the results are independent of this particular choice.)

Define

$$e(a,\underline{Z},\underline{R}) = \inf \{\xi_a(\rho,V) \mid \rho \in W\}$$

with

$$\xi_{\mathbf{a}}(\rho, \mathbf{V}) \ \equiv \ \int \mathbf{f}_{\mathbf{a}}(\rho) \ - \ \int \mathbf{V} \rho \ + \ \frac{1}{2} \ \int \rho \left(\rho^{*} \left| \mathbf{x} \right|^{-1} \right) \ + \ \mathbf{U}.$$

Then the minimizing $\bar{\rho}$ for $\xi_{a}(\cdot,V)$ satisfies the following scaling relation:

$$\rho(a,\underline{Z},\ell\underline{R},x) = \ell^{-6}\rho (\ell^{-6}a, \ell^{3}\underline{Z}, \underline{R}, x/\ell)$$
 (2.21)

and each of the components of the energy satisfies

$$e(a,\underline{Z},\ell\underline{R}) = \ell^{-7} e(\ell^{-6}a,\ell^{3}\underline{Z},\underline{R})$$
 (2.22)

Let us now consider a dilation of the neutral molecule by ℓ , i.e. $R_i \to \ell R_i$, all i $\ell \in R^+$. We define the pressure

$$P = -\frac{1}{3\ell^2} \frac{\partial e}{\partial \ell} \Big|_{\ell=1}$$
 (2.23)

where $e(l) \equiv e(a,\underline{z},l\underline{R})$ (see [5]). Combining the scaling properties with the definition (2.23) we get

$$P = \frac{1}{3} \left[7e + 6a \frac{\partial e}{\partial a} - 3 \sum_{i} \frac{\partial e}{\partial z_{i}} \right]$$
 (2.24a)

Because of the minimization property of $\tilde{\rho}$ we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i \frac{\partial e}{\partial z_i} = -A + 2U$$
 (2.24b)

$$a \frac{\partial e}{\partial a} = -\frac{5}{3} K + D \tag{2.24c}$$

(these results are only heuristic. One should prove the differentiability of e in z_i and a first. See however ([33], Theorem II.16) for the TF case).

From (2.24a,b,c,) we get

$$P = \frac{1}{3} [e + (3D - 4K)] . (2.25)$$

Remarks: (i) Note that for an atom P=0 as it should be!

- (ii) In the particular case $f(\rho) = \rho^{5/3}$ one has $D = \frac{5}{3}$ K and, there, P = (e+K)/3.
- (iii) Theorem (2.14) says that the absolute minimum of e as a function of \underline{R} is attained when all R_i are infinitely apart. If one can prove that $P \ge 0$ one concludes that there

is no local minimum. (Because if \underline{R} is a given configuration, $\ell \underline{R}$ for $\ell > 1$ has always less energy). In the particular case $f = \rho^{5/3}$ (TF case) this was proven to be true in [5].

2.7 Regularity Properties of the minimizing solution.

Let us consider V of the form (2.2). We establish here some regularity properties of the minimizing ρ for $\xi(\cdot,V)$ and of its respective potential ϕ .

Lemma 2.17: The potential ϕ defined by (2.10c) is continuous away from the R_i's and goes to zero at infinity.

<u>Proof:</u> The convolution $\rho * |x|^{-1}$ is continuous and goes to zero at infinity because $\rho \epsilon L^1 \cap L^{5/3}$ and $|x|^{-1} \epsilon L^{5/2} + L^4$ [41], ([32], Lemma II.25).

Lemma 2.18: $\phi(x)$ is non-negative, all x.

<u>Proof:</u> Let $S = \{x | \phi(x) < 0\}$. Since $\phi \to \infty$ as $x \to R_i$ and ϕ is continuous away from the R_i 's then S is open and disjoint from the R_i . On S, $\phi < 0$ so $\phi - \phi_0 < 0$. Thus (2.10b) implies $\rho = 0$ on S, hence ϕ is harmonic on S. Because of the previous lemma $\phi = 0$ on $\partial S \cup \{\infty\}$. Therefore $\phi \equiv 0$ on S and S is empty (see[32], Lemma II.19).

<u>Lemma 2.19</u>: $\phi \in H^2$ (the Sobolev space s.t. ϕ , $\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial x_i}$, $\frac{\partial^2 \phi}{\partial x_i \partial x_j} \in L^2$) away from R_i .

Proof: Taking the distributional Lapacian in (2.10c) we get

$$- (4\pi)^{-1} \Delta \phi = - \rho + \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i \delta(x-R_i)$$
 (2.26)

with $\rho = a^{-1}$ (max($\phi - \phi_0$,0)). Since a^{-1} is monotone in ϕ , (2.26) is a non-linear elliptic equation (for ϕ) with a monotone non-linearity. Therefore $\phi \in H^2$ away from the R_1 by standard regularity theorems for elliptic equations [10].

Lemma 2.20: ϕ and ρ are analytic on the set $\{x \mid a(\rho) > 0\}$, away from the R_i.

<u>Proof</u>: ϕ obeys the non-linear elliptic equation $(4\pi)^{-1}\Delta\phi=a^{-1}$ $(\phi-\phi_0)$ in the neighborhood of any $x_0\neq R_i$ with $\phi(x_0)>\phi_0$ (or equivalently x_0 ϵ $\{x|a(\rho)>0\}$). General theorems ([37], Section 5.8) then assert the real analyticity of ϕ and so also of $\rho=(4\pi)^{-1}\Delta\phi$.

In the particular case $f(\rho) = \rho^{5/3}$ (i.e. TF theory) additional regularity properties, including asymptotic behavior of ϕ and ρ are proven in [32, Section IV].

2.8. Review of recent developments in the TF theory: $\frac{f(\rho) = \rho^{5/3}}{}$

After the first rigorous work on the (full) ¹ TF theory by Lieb and Simon [31,32] many new properties have been studied on rigorous grounds. We will review here

There had been previous rigorous results by E. Hille [24] about the TF equation with spherical symmetry, i.e. V-Z|x|-1.

some of the results. (Throughout this section $f(\rho)=\rho^{5/3}$ and V is of the form (2.2)).

(i) Sign of the many-body potentials [4]: The k-body energy $\epsilon(z_1,\ldots,z_k;\ R_1,\ldots,R_k)$ is defined by successive differences of the total energy e. If $a=\{a_1,\ldots,a_k\}$ $(\ell \leq k)$ is a subset of the integers $K=\{1,\ldots,k\}$, let e(a) denote $e(z_{a_1},\ldots,z_{a_k};\ R_{a_1},\ldots,R_{a_k})$, and $|a|=\ell$ be the cardinality of a. Then

$$\varepsilon (K) \equiv \sum_{\phi \leq a \leq K} (-1)^{|K|-|a|} e(a)$$
 (2.27)

with $e(\phi) \equiv 0$. Thus,

$$\varepsilon (\{1,2\}) = e(z_1, z_2; R_1, R_2) - e^{at} (z_1) - e^{at} (z_2)$$

is the two body energy,

$$\epsilon (\{1,2,3\}) = e(\{1,2,3\}) - e(\{1,2\}) - e(\{1,3\})$$

- $e(\{2,3\}) + e^{at} (\{1\}) + e^{at} (\{2\}) + e^{at} (\{3\})$

is the three-body energy, and so forth.

It was shown in [4] that the sign of $\varepsilon(K)$ is $(-1)^{|K|}$ for all \underline{z} and \underline{R} . This was done by noting that $\varepsilon(K) = 0$ when $z_1 = 0$ and that

$$\partial \varepsilon(K)/\partial z_1 = \lim_{x \to R_1} \psi(K;x)$$

where

$$\psi(K;x) = \sum_{\phi \leq a \leq K} (-1)^{|K|-|a|} \phi(a;x)$$

(here ϕ is the TF potential corresponding to the configuration a). It was shown that $(-1)^{|a|} \phi(a;x) > 0$ all x.

This last result is the finite difference version of the following heuristic result:

If
$$\phi_i$$
 denotes $\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial z_i}$ (x), etc.

$$(-1)^n \phi_{i_1, i_2, \dots, i_n} (x) \leq 0 \text{ all } x, n \geq 1.$$
 (2.28)

(see [5] Section 3).

A function satisfying this property is called an alternating function. This kind of result is characteristic of problems related to electrostatics. In fact capacities and Green's function satisfy similar inequalities [35].

This theorem about the sign of the many-body potentials and the inequalities for the TF potential still hold if $f(\rho) = \rho^{5/3}$ is changed by any function satisfying $f, f' \geq 0$, $(-1)^n f^{(n)} \geq 0$, (as long as the minimizing problem still makes sense), i.e. if f' is a Herglotz function.

(ii) <u>Positivity of the pressure</u> (non existence of local minima of the TF energy as a function of the configuration R) [5]. (neutral case only)

The no-binding theorem of Teller says that the absolute minimum of the TF energy as a function of the

configuration \underline{R} is obtained when all R's are infinitely apart from each other. However there could be a configuration of R's giving a local minimum for the energy.

Let $e(\underline{R})$ be the TF energy corresponding to the configuration \underline{R} . Let us make the uniform dilation $\underline{R} \to \ell \underline{R}$ ($\ell > 0$) and consider $e(\ell) \equiv e(\ell \underline{R})$. Let us define the pressure $e(\ell) = -\frac{1}{3\ell^2} \left| \frac{\partial e}{\partial \ell} \right|_{\ell=1}^{\ell}$. Then, it is clear that if $e(\ell)$ is nonnegative there are not any local minima for the energy. This result has been proven in [5]. It was also proven that the compressibility $e^{-1} = -\frac{\ell}{3} \left| \frac{\partial P}{\partial \ell} \right|_{\ell=1}^{\ell}$ is also nonnegative and that, in fact, $e(\ell)$ is a decreasing convex function of ℓ (convexity here is stronger than the statement that $e(\ell)$ is positive.

The positivity of the pressure and compressibility had been conjectured in [32]. The pressure can be written in terms of the total energy e and the kinetic energy K as $P = \frac{1}{3}$ (e+K). The no-binding theorem 2.14 says that e is superadditive, i.e. if we decompose a system into two clusters the energy of the system is larger than the sum of the energies of the clusters $(e(z_1+z_2) \ge e(z_1) + e(z_2))$. Suppose that K has the same property. Then P would also have it and, therefore, $P \ge \sum_{i=1}^{n} P^{at} = 0$, where P^{at} is the pressure of a single atom and is zero because e^{at} does not change under dilation. That K is superadditive follows from the relation

$$\frac{\partial^{2} K}{\partial z_{i} \partial z_{j}} = -3 \sum_{\ell=1}^{k} z_{\ell} \frac{\partial^{2} \phi}{\partial z_{i} \partial z_{j}} (R_{\ell})$$

(this kind of relation only holds when $f(\rho)$ is a power of ρ) and equation (2.28).

It has been conjectured [5] that the neutral case is the worst case and therefore the pressure P and compressibility κ^{-1} should be positive for the ionic case ($\lambda < z$) as well.

The only result in the ionic case is the one by Balàzs [2]: (an alternative proof using Reflection Positivity is given in [5]) for a configuration (\underline{z} , \underline{R}) having a plane of symmetry, the shifting of the charges \underline{z} in each side away from the symmetry plane decreases the energy.

- (iii) Asymptotic behavior of the k-body energies [11]: It was proven by Brezis and Lieb [11] that the interaction among neutral atoms in TF theory behaves, for large separation ℓ , like $\Gamma\ell^{-7}$ (Γ is independent of the z's, a consequence of the fact that the asymptotic formula for ρ [32,44] is independent of the z's) but does depend on the relative position of the nuclei. Moreover in TF theory 3 and higher body terms persist into the asymptotic region.
- (iv) The Free-Boundary of the TF functional [12]: In the ionic case (i.e. $\lambda < z$) the support of ρ is compact ([32], Theorem IV.2). Let $\Omega = \{x | \rho(x) > 0\}$. The boundary $\partial \Omega$ is determined by the TF eqn. (i.e. $\partial \Omega$ is a free boundary). The

properties of $\partial\Omega$ have been studied by Cafarelli and Friedman [12]. They proved that $\partial\Omega$ is $C^{3+\frac{1}{2}}$ everywhere except on at most a finite number of C^1 curves.

CHAPTER 3: "THE EXCHANGE CORRECTION"

In the TF functional only the "direct" part of the true quantum mechanical electron-electron repulsion is taken into account. The so called "exchange" energy (the effects of the Pauli principle in the interaction energy) is not considered. Although it is impossible to express this energy only in terms of ρ we seek an approximation to it. A possible approximation is suggested by the calculation of the exchange energy per unit volume for a system of N electrons in a box of volume V. The result of such computation [8,17] is

$$-\frac{3}{4} C_{e} (N/V)^{4/3}, \qquad (3.1)$$

with $C_e = e^2 (3/\pi)^{1/3}$ (-e is the charge of the electron and we choose units in which e=1). Starting from the Hartree-Fock theory, Dirac [13] derived an approximation to the exchange energy in terms of ρ . He found

$$U_e(\rho) = -(3C_e/4) \int dx \rho^{4/3}$$
 (3.2)

Finally, it has been recently proven [30] that $U_{\rm e}(\rho)$, with some appropriate constant replacing $C_{\rm e}$, is in fact a lower bound to the true exchange energy (defined as the difference between the quantum mechanical electron-electron repulsion and the direct energy $\frac{1}{2}\int\! dx\ dy\ \rho(x)\,|x-y|^{-1}\rho(y)$).

The TF theory with the correction for exchange taken into account (henceforth denoted by TFD) is then defined by the functional

$$\begin{split} \xi_{\text{TFD}}(\rho) &\equiv \xi_{\text{TF}}(\rho) + U_{\text{e}}(\rho) \\ &= \int g(\rho) \, \mathrm{d} \mathbf{x} \, - \, \int \!\! V \rho \, \, \mathrm{d} \mathbf{x} \, + \, \frac{1}{2} \int \!\! \mathrm{d} \mathbf{x} \, \, \mathrm{d} \mathbf{y} \, \, \rho(\mathbf{x}) \, \big| \mathbf{x} - \mathbf{y} \big|^{-1} \rho \left(\mathbf{y} \right) \, , \end{split}$$

with

$$g(\rho) = (3/5)\rho^{5/3} - (3/4) C_e^{4/3}$$
 (3.4)

The addition of the exchange term to the TF energy functional makes it loose its convexity in ρ and therefore we can not apply the usual methods to prove existence and uniqueness of a minimum. In particular TFD does not fall into the category of models studied in the previous chapter.

In the last fifteen years a new technique has been developed to study non-convex variational problems [25,14], namely the "relaxation" of the energy functional: starting with a variational problem which often does not have a solution one tries to formulate a second problem having the same value and such that its optimal solutions are exactly limit points of minimizing sequences of the first. (For a review [15], Chapters VIII-X). This is the method we are going to use here to prove existence of solutions to min $\{\xi_{\rm TFD}(\rho) \mid \rho=\lambda\}$ (see Theorem 3.3 below).

In Section 3.1 we formulate the relaxed problem and we study the existence and uniqueness of solutions. This is particularly simple because the relaxed problem is an example of the models studied in Chapter two. In section 3.2 we show that the solution to the relaxed problem also solves the original one. In the last section we discuss some properties of the solution.

3.1. The relaxed problem.

Consider the TFD energy functional defined by (3.3), (3.4). If we are going to minimize $\xi_{\rm TFD}(\rho)$ keeping $\int \rho = \lambda$ fixed, adding a term proportional to $\int \rho$ to $\xi_{\rm TFD}(\rho)$ does not change the minimization problem. For convenience, let us define the functional

$$\xi_{k}(\rho) = \xi_{TFD}(\rho) + \alpha \int \rho = \int k(\rho) dx - \int V \rho dx + \frac{1}{2} \int dx \, dy \rho(x) |x-y|^{-1} \rho(y),$$
(3.5)

with α chosen to be $15C_e^{\ 2}/4^3$ so that k(p)>_ 0 for all p. Hence k(p) is defined by

$$k(\rho) = (3/5)\rho^{5/3} - (3/4) C_e^{4/3} + \alpha\rho$$
 (3.6)

with $\alpha = 15C_e^2/4^3$. Let us denote $\rho_o = (5C_e/8)^3$.

The function $k(\cdot)$ is obviously not convex. Let $f(\cdot)$ be the function whose epigraph (i.e. the set $\{(x,y) \mid x \geq 0, y \geq f(x)\}$) is the convex hull of the epigraph of $k(\cdot)$ (or in other words f is the second Legendre transform of k). By definition f is a convex function and it is defined by (see figure)

$$f(\rho) = 0 \quad \text{if } \rho < \rho_{0}$$

$$f(\rho) = k(\rho) \quad \text{if } \rho \ge \rho_{0}.$$

$$(3.7)$$

Corresponding to f let us define the energy functional

100

$$\xi_{f}(\rho) = \int f(\rho) dx - \int V_{\rho} dx + \frac{1}{2} \int dx dy \rho(x) |x-y|^{-1} \rho(y)$$
(3.8)

and let us study the following minimization problem,

$$\min \ \{\xi_{f}(\rho) \ | \ \rho \in W_{\partial \lambda}\}$$
 (3.9) with $W_{\partial \lambda}$ defined as in (2.6b).

Remark: The variational problem defined by (3.9) is called the relaxation of the original non-convex problem defined by $\xi_k(\rho)$ [15].

The function f defined by (3.7) satisfies all the properties (F-1) through (F-4) and therefore theorem 2.13 applies to the functional $\xi_{\rm f}(\rho)$. Hence we have:

Theorem 3.1. (Existence of a solution to the relaxed problem): Let $V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i |x-R_i|^{-1}$ with $z_i > 0$ and let $z = \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i$. Then for $\lambda \le z$, there is a unique minimizing ρ for (3.9) with $\int \rho dx = \lambda$ such that

$$\phi(x) - \tilde{\phi}_0 \le 0 \quad \text{if } \rho = 0$$
 (3.10a)

$$\phi(x) - \tilde{\phi}_0 = 0$$
 if $0 < \rho(x) < \rho_0$ (3.10b)

$$\rho(x)^{2/3} - C_e \rho(x)^{1/3} + \alpha = \phi(x) - \phi_o \text{ if } \rho(x) \ge \rho_o,$$
 (3.10c)

with $\phi(x) \equiv V(x) - \int dy \ \rho(y) \ |x-y|^{-1}$, for some $\tilde{\phi}_0$. Moreover if $\lambda = z$, $\tilde{\phi}_0 = 0$ and if $\lambda < \bar{z}$, $\tilde{\phi}_0 > 0$. $E_f(\lambda, V) = \inf$

 $\begin{cases} \xi_{\mathbf{f}}(\rho) \, \big| \, \rho \, \epsilon W_{\partial \lambda} \} \text{ is strictly monotone decreasing on } [0,z] \\ \text{constant on } [z,\infty) \text{ and convex on } [0,\infty) \text{.} \quad \tilde{\phi}_{\mathbf{0}} \text{ is given by } \\ \tilde{\phi}_{\mathbf{0}} = -\frac{\partial E_{\mathbf{f}}}{\partial \lambda} \text{.} \end{cases}$

Remark: The tilde over $\tilde{\phi}_{O}$ is used to distinguish it from the chemical potential for the TFD problem. See Theorem 3.3 below.

3.2. Connection between the relaxed problem and the TFD variational principle.

Since the function f defined by (3.7) is pointwise less or equal than k we have,

$$\xi_k(\rho) \geq \xi_f(\rho)$$

for every $\rho \epsilon W$. Therefore

$$\min \{\xi_{f}(\rho) | \rho \epsilon W_{\partial \lambda}\} \leq \inf \{\xi_{k}(\rho) | \rho \epsilon W_{\partial \lambda}\}$$
 (3.11)

Here we will show that the minimizing ρ for $\xi_f(\cdot)$ in $\mathsf{W}_{\partial\lambda}$ also minimizes $\xi_k(\cdot)$ in that set. Let us denote by $\bar{\rho}$ the function minimizing $\xi_f(\cdot)$ in $\mathsf{W}_{\partial\lambda}$ ($\lambda \leq z$). We start with the following result

Lemma 3.2: If $\bar{\rho}$ is the solution to (3.10) then $\mu \ \{x \mid 0 < \bar{\rho} \ (x) \le \rho_0\} = 0 \text{ where } \mu \text{ is the Lebesgue measure.}$

<u>Proof:</u> We recall the following property of the Sobolev space H^1 [45]: Let c be an arbitrary constant and $u \in H^1$, then $\frac{\partial u}{\partial x_i} = 0$ a.e. on the set $\{x | u(x) = c\}$. Iterating this we deduce that if c is a constant and $u \in H^2$ then $\Delta u = 0$ a.e. on

the set $\{x \mid u(x) = c\}$. Consider now the set $\mathbf{D} = \{x \mid 0 < \overline{\rho}(x) \rho_0\}$ $U\{x \mid \rho = 0, \phi = \overline{\phi}_0\}$. On \mathbf{D} , $\phi = \overline{\phi}_0$. For x near R_i $\phi(x)$ is very large and thus $\rho > \rho_0$. Hence \mathbf{D} is away from the R_i 's. On \mathbf{D} $\phi = \overline{\phi}_0$ (a constant and $\phi \in \mathbf{H}^2$ (because of Lemma 2.19). Therefore $\Delta \phi = 0$ a.e. on \mathbf{D} and consequently $\rho(x) = 0$ a.e. on \mathbf{D} . Hence $\mu\{x \mid 0 < \overline{\rho} \le \rho_0\} = 0$.

Because of Lemma 3.2, $\xi_k(\bar{\rho})=\xi_f(\bar{\rho})$ and therefore (3.11) implies

$$\begin{split} \xi_{\mathbf{f}}(\overline{\rho}) &= \min \; \{\xi_{\mathbf{f}}(\rho) \; \big| \; \rho \epsilon W_{\partial \lambda} \} \leq \inf \; \{\xi_{\mathbf{k}}(\rho) \; \big| \; \rho \epsilon W_{\partial \lambda} \} \\ &\leq \xi_{\mathbf{k}}(\overline{\rho}) \; = \; \xi_{\mathbf{f}}(\overline{\rho}) \; . \end{split}$$

Thus $\bar{\rho}$ is the unique minimizing ρ for $\xi_k(\cdot)$ in $W_{\partial\lambda}$. (Uniqueness here is implied by the uniqueness of the solution to the relaxed problem).

To conclude this section let us summarize the results about the TFD minimization problem in the following

Theorem 3.3: Let $V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^k z_i |x-R_i|^{-1}$ with $z_i > 0$ and let $z = \sum_{i=1}^k z_i$. For $\lambda \le z$, there is a unique ρ which minimizes $\xi_{TFD}(\cdot)$ (defined by (3.3)) with $\int \rho dx = \lambda$. The minimizing ρ is such that

$$\rho^{1/3} = \frac{1}{2} \left[C_e + (C_e^2 + 4(\phi - \phi_0))^{\frac{1}{2}} \right] \text{ if } \phi > \phi_0 - \alpha, \qquad (3.12a)$$

$$\rho = \rho_0 = (5C_e/8)^3$$
 if $\phi = \phi_0 - \alpha$ (3.12b)

and
$$\rho = 0$$
 if $\phi < \phi_{O} - \alpha$, (3.12c)

where $\phi(x) \equiv V(x) - \int dy \; \rho(y) \; |x-y|^{-1}$, for some $\phi_0 \ge \alpha \equiv 15C_e^2/4^3$. Moreover if $\lambda=z$, $\phi_0=\alpha$ and if $\lambda< z \; \phi_0>\alpha$. ϕ_0 is given by

$$\phi_{O} = -\frac{\partial E_{TFD}}{\partial \lambda} \tag{3.13}$$

 $E_{\rm TFD}$ () is strictly monotone decreasing and convex. If $\lambda \times z$ there is no solution.

Remarks: (i) Recall here that $\xi_{\rm TFD}(\rho) = \xi_{\rm k}(\rho) - \alpha \int \rho$. This is why $\phi_{\rm O} = \alpha$ in the neutral case.

(ii) Note that $\xi_{\rm TFD}(\rho)$ is not bounded from below in W. In fact, as $||\rho||_1\to\infty$, $\xi_{\rm TFD}(\rho)\to -\infty$.

3.3. Properties of the minimizing solution.

(i) Properties of ϕ and ρ : Regularity properties of ϕ and ρ are established in section 2.7. In particular ϕ is a continuous function going to zero at infinity. ϕ and ρ are real analytic in the set $\{x | \rho(x) > \rho_0\} = \{x | \phi(x) > \phi_0 - \alpha\}$. The TFD density ρ has compact support even in the neutral case and $\mu\{x | 0 < \rho(x) < \rho_0\} = 0$.

(ii) Dependence on C_e:

Theorem 3.4: Let $\phi_0 \equiv \phi_0 - 15C_e^2/4^3$ and V be fixed. Let ϕ_1 (respectively ϕ_2) be the TFD potential corresponding to C_e^1 (respectively C_e^2). Then if $C_e^1 > C_e^2$, $\phi_1(x) \le \phi_2(x)$ for all x. In particular, for neutral systems, $\phi_{TFD}(x) \le \phi_{TF}(x)$ all x,

<u>Proof:</u> Let $\psi \equiv \phi_2 - \phi_1$. Because of (i) ψ is continuous and goes to zero at infinity. Therefore $S = \{x | \psi(x) < 0\}$ is open and $\psi = 0$ on $\partial S \mathbf{u} \{\infty\}$. On S

$$- (4\pi)^{-1} \Delta \psi = \rho_1 - \rho_2 \ge 0$$

because, for fixed ϕ_0 , $\rho^{1/3} = \frac{1}{2} (C_e + (C_e^2/16 + 4(\phi - \phi_0))^{\frac{1}{2}})$ is increasing in C_e (on S). Hence ψ is superharmonic on S. Since $\psi = 0$ on $\partial S_{\bullet}\{\infty\}$ the maximum modulus principle implies S is empty and therefore $\phi_2(x) \geq \phi_1(x)$ for all x.

(iii) Two-body atomic potential:

- The no-binding theorem 3.14 (Teller's theorem) also holds here. Hence there are no molecules in the TFD model.
- For a one center potential (i.e. $V = z |x|^{-1}$) the solution ρ is spherically symmetric and decreasing in |x| (see Chapter 4, Theorem 4.11)). Therefore the support of the minimizing solution has finite radius R_0 . Certainly

$$R_{0} \leq (3\lambda/4\pi\rho_{0})^{1/3}.$$

- In the neutral case ($\lambda=Z$), if one studies two centers separated by a distance R>R₀ + R₀, with R₀ = $(3z_1/4\pi\rho_0)^{1/3}$, the minimizing solution ρ is going to be equal to the one center solution ρ_1 around R₁ and $\rho=\rho_2$ around R₂ and 0 everywhere else. This can be easily seen considering the uniqueness of the solution. This implies that the two-body energy is 0 if the atoms are separated by more than R.
- More (heuristic) information about the TFD interatomic potential can be found in ([48], Section 3.5).

CHAPTER 4: THE THOMAS-FERMI VON WEIZSACKER THEORY

The TF and related theories (see Chapter 2), attractive because of their simplicity, are not satisfactory for atomic problems because they yield an electron density with incorrect behavior very close and very far away from the nucleus. Moreover, they do not allow for the existence of molecules. Von Weisäcker [49] suggested the addition of an inhomogeneity correction

$$U_{\overline{W}}(\rho) = C_{\overline{W}}(\Delta \rho)^2/\rho , \qquad (4.1)$$

to the kinetic energy density. Here $c_W \equiv h^2/(32\pi^2 m) = (24\pi^2)^{-2/3}$ in units in which the coefficient of the $\rho^{5/3}$ term is 3/5. The Von Weisäcker correction has been derived in many different ways. It can be obtained as the first order correction to the TF kinetic energy in a quasiclassical approximation to the Hartree-Fock theory via a steepest descent computation [27]. The correction to the TF energy that this additional term yields is of the order $z^{5/3}$, i.e. of the same order as the exchange correction. Numerical computations using the TF Von Weisacker theory (henceforth TFW) give too high values of the ground state energies of atoms and it has been proposed to reduce the constant c_W by a factor 9 [22,23,27]. We will not discuss

that here. Our main concern, however, will be the study of the variational problem defining TFW. The existence of a unique solution minimizing the TFW energy functional (4.2) in the set $\{\rho \mid \int \rho \leq \lambda, \ \rho \geq 0\}$ is established [Theorem 4.7 below]. The question of existence of a solution in the set I $_{\partial\lambda}$ \equiv $\{\rho\,|\,\int\rho=\lambda$, $\rho\geq0\}$ is harder than in the TF case. In the one center case (TFW atom) we show that there is a unique minimizing solution in $I_{\partial\lambda}$ for $\lambda \leq Z$. It remains as an open problem to determine the largest $\boldsymbol{\lambda}$ for which this is still true. Recall that for the TF related theories the largest λ is Z. Another open problem is to prove the existence of binding within the framework of TFW theory. We do not have any result in this direction. Note, however, that $E_{W}(\rho) \equiv \int U_{W}(\rho) dx$ is subadditive as a function of ρ , i.e. $E_W(\rho_1+\rho_2) \leq E_W(\rho_1) + E_W(\rho_2)$ (see Theorem 4.3 below), and therefore does not satisfy the hypothesis of Baxter's Theorem ([3] Proposition 2; Chapter 2 Theorem 2.14). This leaves open the possibility for binding. Gombás [21] applied the TFW theory (including exchange corrections) to study the N_2 -molecule and he found numerically that there is binding. He actually computed the distance between the two centers to be 1.39 A, for the configuration of minimum energy. is also a non-rigorous argument of Balazs [2] that indicates the possibility of binding for a homopolar diatomic molecule in the TFW theory.

In sections 4.1 and 4.2 the existence and uniqueness of a minimizing solution in the set I_{λ} is determined. In section 4.3 it is proven that the minimizing solution is a strong solution to the TFW equation (4.14) and regularity properties of this solution are established. In section 4.4 the TFW atom is studied and in section 4.5 the components of the energy and their properties are discussed.

4.1. The TFW functional

The TFW theory can be defined by the following energy functional

$$\xi(\psi, V) = C_W \int (\nabla \psi)^2 dx + \frac{3}{5} \int (\psi^2)^{5/3} dx - \int V \psi^2 dx + \frac{1}{2} \int dx dy \ \psi(x)^2 |x-y|^{-1} \ \psi(y)^2,$$
(4.2)

defined on the function space

$$H^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{3}) \equiv \{\psi \mid \psi \in \mathbb{L}^{2}, \nabla \psi \in \mathbb{L}^{2}\} . \tag{4.3}$$

The Sobolev space $H^1(R^3)$ is a Hilbert space with respect to the inner product $((u,v)) \equiv (u,v) + (\nabla u, \nabla v)$ $((u,v) = \int uv dx)$. In terms of ψ the single particle density ρ is $\rho(x) = \psi(x)^2$. We are interested here on V's of the form

$$V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i |x-R_i|^{-1}, z_i > 0.$$
 (4.4)

Before we proceed with the proof of existence and uniqueness we claim that if $\psi\epsilon \textbf{H}^{1}$

$$\int (\nabla |\psi|)^2 dx \leq \int (\nabla \psi)^2 dx$$

and thus $\xi(|\psi|,V) \leq \xi(\psi,V)$. Therefore we can restrict the function space over which $\xi(\cdot,V)$ is minimized to

$$I = \{\psi \mid \psi \in H^1, \psi \geq 0\}$$
 (4.5)

The proof of this claim uses the same method as in Kato's theorem [39]: if $\psi_{\varepsilon} = (\psi^2 + \varepsilon^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$, then for ψ smooth $\psi_{\varepsilon} \quad \forall \psi_{\varepsilon} = \psi \forall \psi$ and thus $| \forall \psi_{\varepsilon} | \leq | \forall \psi |$. For arbitrary $\psi_{\varepsilon} H^1$, mollify ψ as in the proof of Kato's inequality.

For the same reasons given in the minimization problem of Chapter 2, it is convenient to define

$$I_{\lambda} = \{\psi \in I \mid \int \psi^2 dx \leq \lambda \} , \qquad (4.6a)$$

$$I_{\partial \lambda} = \{ \psi \epsilon I \mid \int \psi^2 dx = \lambda \} . \tag{4.6b}$$

Note that $\psi \in H^1 <=> \psi \in L^2$, $\nabla \psi \in L^2$ and therefore by using Sobolev's inequality [7]

$$\int (\nabla \psi)^2 dx \ge K (\int \psi^6 dx)^{1/3}$$
 (4.7)

(K = 3 $(\pi/2)^{4/3}$ is known to be the best possible constant) we see that $\psi \epsilon H^1$ implies $\psi \epsilon L^6$. Hence $\psi \epsilon L^p$ for every $2 \le p \le 6$. In particular $\psi^2 \epsilon L^{5/3}$.

Theorem 4.1: Let $V \in L^{5/2} + L^{\infty}$ and let $\xi(\psi, V)$ be given by (4.2) then:

- (i) If $\psi \in I$, $\xi(\psi, V)$ exists.
- (ii) If ψ_n , $\psi \in I$ and $||\psi_n \psi||_{H^1} \to 0$ then $\xi(\psi_n, V) \to \xi(\psi, V)$.
- (iii) On each I_{λ} ($\lambda < \infty$), $\xi(\psi, V)$ is bounded from below.
- (iv) Fix λ , E_O. Then $\exists c < \infty$ such that $\psi \in I_{\lambda}$ with $\xi (\psi, V) \leq E_{O}$ implies $||\psi||_{H^{1}} \leq c$.

 $\begin{array}{lll} & \underline{\text{Proof:}} & \text{(i)} & \psi \in \text{H}^1 & \text{implies } \psi \in \text{L}^P & \text{all p } \xi \, [2,6] & \text{and in particular} \\ & \psi^2 \in \text{L}^{5/3}. & \text{Therefore, by ([32], Theorem II.2a)) } \xi (\psi, \text{V}) \leftarrow \\ & C_W \int (\nabla \psi)^2 & \text{is finite.} & \text{Since } \psi \in \text{H}^1 & \text{we have } \xi (\psi, \text{V}) < \infty. & \text{(ii) If} \\ & \psi_n, & \psi \in \text{I} & \text{and } \left| \left| \psi_n - \psi \right| \right|_H \downarrow \rightarrow 0 & \text{we have } \left| \left| \psi_n - \psi \right| \right|_p \rightarrow 0 & \text{for } 2 < p < 6. \\ & \text{Hence ([32], Theorem II.2b)) and } \left| \left| \nabla (\psi_n - \psi) \right| \right|_2 \rightarrow 0 & \text{imply} \\ & \xi (\psi_n, \text{V}) \rightarrow \xi (\psi, \text{V}). & \text{(iii) } \xi (\psi, \text{V}) \geq C_W \int (\nabla \psi)^2 dx - \int V \psi^2 dx, \\ & \text{since } \int (\psi^2)^{5/3} \geq 0 & \text{and } \int dx dy \ \psi(x)^2 \ \left| x - y \right|^{-1} \psi(y)^2 \geq 0. & \text{Using H\"older's and Sobolev's inequalities we get} \\ & \end{array}$

$$||\psi^2||_{5/3} \le \lambda^{2/5} \kappa^{-3/5} ||\nabla \psi||_2^{6/5}$$
.

Since V = V_1 + V_2 with V_1 ϵ L^{∞} and V_2 ϵ $L^{5/2}$, Hölder's inequality and the above estimate yield

$$\xi(\psi, \nabla) \ge C_W Y^2 - \lambda ||V_1||_{\infty} - \lambda^{2/5} \kappa^{-3/5} ||V_2||_{5/2} Y^{6/5}$$

(Y = $||\nabla \psi||_2$), which is certainly bounded from below. (iv) From (iii) we have $||\nabla \psi||_2 < d$ for some finite d. Since $||\psi||_2 \le \lambda^{1/2}$ we have $||\psi||_{H^1} < c$.

Remark: $\xi(\psi,V)$ is also bounded from below in I since $\xi(\psi,V) \geq \xi_{\rm TF}(\psi^2,V)$ which is bounded from below in W [32].

Let us now define

$$E(\lambda, V) \equiv \inf \{ \xi(\psi, V) \mid \psi \epsilon I_{\partial \lambda} \}$$
 (4.8)

Theorem 4.2: If $V \in L^{5/2} + L^P$ for some $5/2 , then <math>E(\lambda, V) = \inf \{ \xi(\psi, V) \mid \psi \in I_{\lambda} \}$.

<u>Proof:</u> Given $\psi \in C_0^1$ (R³) \cap I_{λ} we can find $\psi_n \in I_{\partial \lambda}$ such that $\xi(\psi_n, V) \to \xi(\psi, V)$. In fact let $\psi_n = \psi + \tilde{\Delta}_n$ where $\tilde{\Delta}_n$ is supported in R³/supp (ψ) and it is the translate of

$$\Delta_{n}(x) \equiv c n^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\lambda - ||\psi||_{2}^{2})^{\frac{1}{2}} \begin{cases} \exp(-n^{2/3}(|x| - n^{1/3})^{-2}) & \text{if } |x| \le n^{1/3} \\ \\ 0 & \text{if } |x| \ge n^{1/3} \end{cases}$$

$$(4.9)$$

and $c = 4\pi \int_{0}^{1} \exp(-2(1-r)^{-2}) r^{2} dr$. Note that

(i)
$$\int \Delta_{n}^{2} dx = (\lambda - ||\psi||_{2}^{2}) \quad \forall n > 0$$
(ii)
$$\int (\Delta_{n})^{k} dx = a n^{(2-k)/2}$$
(iii)
$$\int (\nabla \Delta_{n})^{2} dx = b n^{-2/3}$$
(4.10)

for some positive constants a,b and k>2. Therefore $\int (\nabla \Delta_n)^2 dx$ and $\int (\Delta_n)^k dx$ go to zero as $n \to \infty$. Hence $\int \psi_n^2 dx = \lambda$ (i.e. $\psi_n \in I_{\partial \lambda}$), $||\psi_n - \psi||_{5/3} \to 0$ and $||\psi - \psi_n||_r \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$ for any r>2. Moreover, since $\int (\nabla \Delta_n)^2 dx \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$, by a simple modification of Theorem 4.1 we have

$$\xi(\psi_n, V) \rightarrow \xi(\psi, V)$$
. (4.11)

Thus

$$\inf \; \{ \xi(\psi, V) \; \big| \; \psi \; \epsilon \; \mathbf{I}_{\partial \lambda} \} \; \leq \; \inf \; \{ \xi(\psi, V) \; \big| \; \psi \; \epsilon \; \mathbf{I}_{\lambda} \cap \mathbf{C}_0^1 \}$$

$$= \inf \; \{ \xi(\psi, V) \; \big| \; \psi \; \epsilon \; \mathbf{I}_{\lambda} \}.$$

The last equality follows from (4.11) and the density of c_0^1 in H^1 . |-|

As a consequence of this theorem we have that $E(\lambda,V)$ is a monotone non-increasing function of λ whenever $V \in L^{5/2} + L^p$, $5/2 . Moreover, <math>E(\lambda,V)$ is bounded from below (see remark below Theorem 4.1).

Theorem 4.3 (Strict Convexity): Fix V and let $\psi = (\alpha \psi_1^2 + (1-\alpha)\psi_2^2)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ for $\alpha \epsilon (0,1)$ with $\psi_1, \psi_2 \epsilon$ I and $\psi_1^2 \neq \psi_2^2$ a.e. Then,

$$\xi\left(\psi,V\right) \; < \; \alpha \; \; \xi\left(\psi_{1},V\right) \; + \; \left(1-\alpha\right) \; \; \xi\left(\psi_{2},V\right) \; . \label{eq:energy_equation}$$

Proof: Because of ([32], Theorem II.6), we need only check

$$(\nabla \psi)^2 \leq \alpha (\nabla \psi_1)^2 + (1-\alpha) (\nabla \psi_2)^2.$$
 (4.12)

This is the same as proving

$$(\alpha \psi_1 \nabla \psi_1 + (1-\alpha) \psi_2 \nabla \psi_2)^2 \le (\alpha \psi_1^2 + (1-\alpha) \psi_2^2) (\alpha (\nabla \psi_1)^2 + (1-\alpha) (\nabla \psi_2)^2)$$

which follows from Schwartz's inequality. |-

Remark: Let $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$ in (4.12) and integrate over dx. We get

$$E_{W}(\rho_{1}+\rho_{2}) \leq E_{W}(\rho_{1}) + E_{W}(\rho_{2}),$$

i.e. the von Weizsäcker correction is subadditive in ρ . As we have remarked in the introduction this leaves open the possibility of binding in the TFW theory.

Corollary 4.4: There is at most one $\psi_0 \in I_\lambda$ with $\xi(\psi_0, V) = \inf \{ \xi(\psi, V) \mid \psi \in I_\lambda \}$. The same is true if I_λ is replaced by I or $I_{\partial \lambda}$.

Corollary 4.5: Suppose V ϵ L^{5/2} + L^P with p > $\frac{5}{2}$. Then:

- a) If ψ_0 minimizes $\xi(\psi,V)$ on I_{λ_0} and $\int \psi_0^2 < \lambda_0$, then $E(\lambda,V) = E(\lambda_0,V)$ for all $\lambda < \lambda_0$, when $p < \infty$.
- b) If $\xi(\psi,V)$ has a minimum on $I_{\partial\lambda}$ for all $\lambda\leq\lambda_0$, then $E(\lambda,V)$ is strictly convex on $[0,\lambda_0]$. In particular $E(\lambda,V)$ is convex in λ .

Proof: See Corollary 2.9.

4.2. Existence of a solution in I_{λ} .

To prove existence of solutions in I_{λ} we use the same technique as in Chapter 2. We first prove that $\xi(\psi,V)$ is lower semicontinuous in the weak H^1 topology. Since $\xi(\lambda,V)$ is coercive (Theorem 4.1) and H^1 reflexive, the proof of existence of solutions follows by the Banach-Alaoglu theorem [38]. Uniqueness follows by Corollary 4.4.

Theorem 4.6 (weak lower semicontinuity of $\xi(\psi,V)$: Let $V \in L^{5/2} + L^P$ 5/2<p< ∞ . Then $\xi(\cdot,V)$ is lower semicontinuous on each I_{λ} ($\lambda<\infty$) in the weak H^1 topology, i.e. if $\psi_n \to \psi$ in weak H^1 , then

4.3. Connection with the TFW equation.

In this section we study the Euler equation associated with the TFW variational principle. First we show that the minimizing ψ for $\xi(\cdot,V)$ on $I_{\partial\lambda}$ is a weak solution of the TFW equation (4.13) and then we use elliptic regularity to prove that in fact ψ is a strong solution. This is a standard procedure in the study of variational problems.

Theorem 4.8: Let $V \in L^{5/2} + L^P$ for $p \in (\frac{5}{2}, \infty)$.

a) If ψ ϵ I and $\xi(\psi,V)$ = $E(\lambda,V)$ then ψ satisfies (in distributional sense) the equation

$$[-C_{W}^{\Delta} + (\psi^{2})^{2/3} - \phi] \psi(x) = -\phi_{O}^{\psi}(x), \qquad (4.13)$$

for some ϕ_O with $\phi(x) \equiv V(x) - \int \psi(y)^2 |x-y|^{-1} dy$. Moreover $\phi_O = -\frac{dE}{d\lambda}$ and thus $\phi_O \ge 0$ (because of Theorem 4.2).

b) If $\psi \in H^1$ is any function (not necessarily minimizing) satisfying (4.13) in distributional sense for any ϕ then

$$\xi(\psi,V) \leq \underline{\lim} \xi(\psi_n,V)$$

Moreover, if $\xi(\psi, V) = \lim \xi(\psi_n, V)$ then each term in $\xi(\psi_n, V)$ converges to the corresponding term in $\xi(\psi, V)$.

Proof: Positive definite quadratic forms are always
non-increasing under weak limits [43] therefore

$$\underline{\text{lim}} \ \int (\nabla \psi_n)^2 \ \geq \ \int (\nabla \psi)^2$$

$$\underline{\lim} \int \psi_{n}(x)^{2} |x-y|^{-1} \psi_{n}(y)^{2} dxdy \geq$$

$$\int (x)^2 |x-y|^{-1} \psi(y)^2 dx dy$$
.

That $\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{n}^{2} V = \int_{n}^{\psi^{2}} V$ is proved in ([33], Theorem 2.1). That $\lim_{n \to \infty} \int_{n}^{5/3} \ge \int_{n}^{5/3} is easy$ (see [32], Theorem II.13 or Chapter 2).

Theorem 4.7 (existence of a unique solution in I_{λ}): Let $V \in L^{5/2} + L^{P}, \text{ with } 5/2 <math display="block">\psi \in I_{\lambda} \text{ with } \xi(\psi, V) = E(\lambda, V).$

<u>Proof:</u> Pick a minimizing sequence $\psi_n \in I_\lambda$ so that $\xi(\psi_n, V) \to E(\lambda, V)$. By Theorem 4.1 (iv) $||\nabla \psi_n||_2 < \infty$. Since $||\psi_n||_2 \le \lambda$ we then have $||\psi_n||_{H^1} < \infty$. Thus by the Banach-Alaoglu theorem [38], there is a subsequence

4.3. Connection with the TFW equation.

In this section we study the Euler equation associated with the TFW variational principle. First we show that the minimizing ψ for $\xi(\cdot,V)$ on $I_{\partial\lambda}$ is a weak solution of the TFW equation (4.13) and then we use elliptic regularity to prove that in fact ψ is a strong solution. This is a standard procedure in the study of variational problems.

Theorem 4.8: Let $V \in L^{5/2} + L^P$ for $p \in (\frac{5}{2}, \infty)$.

a) If ψ ϵ I and $\xi(\psi,V)$ = E(λ,V) then ψ satisfies (in distributional sense) the equation

$$[-C_{W}^{\Delta} + (\psi^{2})^{2/3} - \phi] \psi(x) = -\phi_{O}^{\psi}(x), \qquad (4.13)$$

for some ϕ_O with $\phi(x) \equiv V(x) - \int \psi(y)^2 |x-y|^{-1} dy$. Moreover $\phi_O = -\frac{dE}{d\lambda}$ and thus $\phi_O \ge 0$ (because of Theorem 4.2).

b) If $\psi \in H^1$ is any function (not necessarily minimizing) satisfying (4.13) in distributional sense for any ϕ then

(i)
$$\psi \in C^{O}(\mathbb{R}^{3})$$
,
(ii) $\chi_{\psi} \psi \in L^{5/3}$, where $\chi_{\psi} \equiv (\phi - (\psi^{2})^{2/3})$.

Proof: The proof of a) is standard. Simply replace ψ by $\psi + \alpha g$ g $\varepsilon \lesssim$ (Schwarz space) and compute the derivative of ξ ($\psi + \alpha g$) at $\alpha = 0$. That $\phi_0 = -\frac{dE}{d\lambda}$ follows easily using the convexity of ξ (ψ , V) in $\rho = \psi^2$ (see for example [32], Theorem II.10). To prove b) (i) note that since $\psi \in L^6$, $\psi \in L^p_{loc}$ for any $1 \leq p \leq 6$ and therefore $(\psi^2)^{2/3} \psi \in L^2_{loc}$. Since $\phi \in L^{5/2} + L^\infty$, $\phi \psi \in L^2_{loc}$. Then, if ψ obeys (4.13), $-\Delta \psi \in L^2(\Omega)$ for any bounded subset of R^3 . Therefore ψ belongs to the Sobolev space $W^{2,2}(\Omega)$. By the Sobolev's imbedding theorem $\psi \in C^0(\Omega)$ (if Ω is sufficiently regular) and hence $\psi \in C^0(R^3)$. (b) (ii): Since $\psi \in H^1$, $\psi \in L^2 \cap L^6$ and thus $\psi^2 \in L^1 \cap L^3$. By Young's inequality $\int dy \psi(y)^2 |x-y|^{-1}$ $\in L^{5/2} + L^{10}$. Therefore $\phi \in L^{5/2} + L^{10}$ and thus $\phi \psi \in L^{5/3}$ by Hölder's inequality. Also $(\psi^2)^{2/3} \psi \in L^{5/3}$ because $\psi \in L^2 \cap L^6$.

To prove that ψ is in fact a strong solution of equation (4.13) we restrict to V's of the form (4.4).

Theorem 4.9: Let V be of the form (4.4) and let $\psi \in \mathbb{H}^1$ be any function (not necessarily minimizing) satisfying (4.13) in distributional sense for $\phi_O > 0$. Then $\psi \in C^\infty$ away from the R_i 's and goes to zero at infinity and hence ψ is a strong solution of (4.13).

Proof: The proof that $\psi \in C^{\infty}$ is a standard bootstrap argument (see [39], section 1X.6 for example). Here, we follow Lieb ([29], Theorem 8). If $\phi_0 > 0$, let Y = $(4\pi |x|)^{-1}$ exp $(-(\phi_{\mathcal{O}}/C_{\mathcal{W}})^{\frac{1}{2}}|x|)$ be the kernel for $(-\Delta + (\phi_{\mathcal{O}}/C_{\mathcal{W}}))^{-1}$. Yelf for $1 \le p < 3$. We write $\psi = (C_W)^{-1} (\chi_{th} \psi) *Y$, where χ_{th} is defined as in the previous theorem. Since $Y \in L^{5/2}$ and $\chi_{,h}\psi\epsilon L^{5/3}$ (by the Theorem 4.8 b(ii)), ψ is bounded and goes to zero at infinity [41]. Now, fix $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^3 \setminus \{R_i, i=1,...,k\}$ and let $f \in C^{\infty}$ be a function which is 1 near x_0 . Let $\psi_1 \equiv f \psi$ and $\psi_2 = \psi - \psi_1$. Moreover let $\psi = \psi_a + \psi_b$ where $\psi_a = C_W^{-1} (\chi_{\psi} \psi_2) *Y$. Since ψ_2 vanishes near x_0 , ψ_a is C_w near x_0 . Assuming that $\psi \in C^k$ $(k \ge 0)$ a neighborhood of x_0 we shall prove $\psi \in C^{k+1}$ near x_0 . Let $\rho = \rho_1 + \rho_2$ with $\rho_1 = \psi_1^2$ and $\rho_2 = (\psi_2)^2 + 2\psi_1 \psi_2$. Since ρ_2 is zero near x_0 , $|x|^{-1}*\rho_2$ is harmonic and hence C^{∞} near x_0 . Since ρ_1 has compact support it is in all L^P and ρ_1 is C^k near x_0 . Then $|x|^{-1}*\rho$ is C^k near x_o . Hence χ_{tb} is C^k near x_o (recall $\mathbf{x}_{_{\mathbf{O}}}$ is away from the R $_{\mathbf{i}}$'s), and therefore $\chi_{_{1\!0}}\psi_{_1}$ is C^k near x_0 and has compact support. Hence $\psi_b = (C_W)^{-1}$ $(\chi_{,\mu}\psi_1) \star Y$ is C^{k+1} near χ_0 .

To conclude this section we prove a property of the minimizing ψ which will be useful in the sequel.

Theorem 4.10: Let V be of the form (4.4) and consider $\psi \in \mathbb{H}^1$ such that ψ has compact support and $\int \psi^2 d\mathbf{x} = \lambda$ $<\mathbf{z} \equiv \sum_{i=1}^{K} \mathbf{z}_i$. Then

$$\xi(\psi,V) > \inf \{\xi(\psi,V), \psi \in I\}$$
.

<u>Proof:</u> Pick $\tilde{\psi} = \psi + \tilde{\Delta}_n$, $\tilde{\Delta}_n$ defined as in Theorem 4.2. We have

$$\int (\nabla \tilde{\psi})^2 = \int (\nabla \psi)^2 + a' n^{-2/3}$$

$$\int (\tilde{\psi}^2)^{5/3} = \int (\psi^2)^{5/3} + b' n^{-2/3}$$

where a', b' are some positive constants. Also

$$-\int V \tilde{\psi}^2 + \frac{1}{2} \int \tilde{\psi}^2 (\tilde{\psi}^2 * |\mathbf{x}|^{-1}) = -\int V \psi^2 + \frac{1}{2} \int \psi^2 (\psi^2 * |\mathbf{x}|^{-1}) + P$$

with

$$P = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega}^{2} (v - \psi^{2}_{*}|x|^{-1} - \tilde{\Delta}_{n}^{2}_{*}|x|^{-1}) - \frac{1}{2} \int_{\Omega}^{2} (v - \psi^{2}_{*}|x|^{-1}).$$

Since Δ_n is spherically symmetric $\int\!f\Delta_n^2=\int[\,f\,]\Delta_n^2$ for any function f, where

[f](r)
$$\equiv (4\pi)^{-1} \int_{S_2}^{\pi} f(r\Omega) d\Omega$$

is the spherical average of f. Since $\int \psi^2 = \lambda$ and $\int \Delta_n^2 = z - \lambda$ we have ([32], Theorem II.17) $[V - \psi^2_*|_X|^{-1}] \ge (z - \lambda)/r$ and $[V - \psi^2_*|_X|^{-1} - \tilde{\Delta}_{n^*}^2|_X|^{-1}] \ge 0$. Therefore

$$P \le -\frac{1}{2} \int (z-\lambda) r^{-1} \Delta_n^2 = -d n^{-1/3}$$
,

with d a positive constant. Hence

$$\xi(\tilde{\psi}, V) \leq \xi(\psi, V) + (a+b) n^{-2/3} - d' n^{-1/3}$$

Taking n large enough we get $\xi(\tilde{\psi}, V) < \xi(\psi, V)$.

Remark: Theorem 4.10 also applies to TF theory. However, it does not hold in the TFD theory because of the $\int \rho$ term of the energy functional (3.5).

4.4. The one-center case: TFW atom.

In this section we restrict ourselves to V of the form $V(x)=z|x|^{-1}$, z>0. For this particular V we are able to determine the existence of a minimizing solution in $I_{\partial\lambda}$ for $\lambda< z$ (see Theorem 4.13 below). We think this should also hold for V's of the form (4.4) although we are unable to prove it. Additional properties of the minimizing ψ are established. In particular we prove that the minimizing ψ for $\xi(\cdot,V)$ in $I_{\partial\lambda}$ is a symmetric

decreasing function of |x|, for $\lambda \le z$. It will be necessary to use some inequalities about the symmetric decreasing rearrangement of a function, and we therefore review some of the main facts.

Let $S=\{f:R^3 \to [0,\infty)\,|\,f(x) \le f(y) \text{ if } |x|\ge|y|\}$ be the symmetric decreasing functions. If χ is the characteristic function of a measurable set in R^3 , we define χ^* by

$$\chi^*(x) = 1 \text{ if } 4\pi |x|^3/3 \le ||\chi||_1$$

 $\chi^*(x) = 0$ otherwise.

We see that $\chi * \epsilon S$ and $\left| \left| \chi * \right| \right|_1 = \left| \left| \chi \right| \right|_1$. Given $f: \mathbb{R}^3 \to [0, \infty)$, let $\chi_a^f(x) = 1$ if $f(x) \ge a$, $\chi_a^f(x) = 0$ otherwise. Then

$$f(x) = \int_{0}^{\infty} \chi_{a}^{f}(x) da$$
. Define

$$f^*(x) \equiv \int_0^\infty \chi_a^{f^*}(x) da.$$

Clearly f* ϵ S and for all a, $\mu\{x \mid f^*(x) \ge a\} = \mu\{x \mid f(x) \ge a\}$, where μ is Lebesgue measure. Then for all $p \ge 1$

$$||f^*||_p = ||f||_p$$
 (4.14)

The following two inequalities about symmetric decreasing rearrangements will be needed:

(i) If
$$f,g:\mathbb{R}^3 \longrightarrow [0,\infty)$$

$$\int fg dx \leq \int f *g * dx, \qquad (4.15)$$

(ii) If $f\epsilon H^1$, then $f^*\epsilon H^1$ and

$$||\nabla f||_2 \ge ||\nabla f^*||_2 . \tag{4.16}$$

Remark: a simple proof of this last inequality is given in
([29], Lemma 5).

The following theorem is due to E. H. Lieb (unpublished):

Theorem 4.11: Let $V(x) = z|x|^{-1}$ and $\rho \in L^{\frac{1}{2}} \cap L^{\frac{5}{3}}$. If $\int \rho \leq z$ then

$$-\int \ V \rho \ + \ \frac{1}{2} \ \int \rho \left(\rho * \left| \mathbf{x} \right|^{-1} \right) \ \ge \ - \ \int V \rho * \ + \ \frac{1}{2} \ \int \rho * \ \left(\rho *_* \left| \mathbf{x} \right|^{-1} \right).$$

Proof: We write,

$$- \int V\rho + \frac{1}{2} \int \rho (\rho_* |x|^{-1}) = - \int V\rho^* + \int V(\rho^* - \rho) + \int \rho (|x|^{-1}_* \rho^*)$$

$$- \frac{1}{2} \int \rho^* (|x|^{-1}_* \rho^*) + \frac{1}{2} \int (\rho - \rho^*) [|x|^{-1}_* (\rho - \rho^*)] \ge$$

$$\ge - \int V\rho^* + \frac{1}{2} \int \rho^* (|x|^{-1}_* \rho^*) + \int \varphi (\rho^* - \rho), \qquad (4.17)$$

where $\phi \equiv V - (|x|^{-1} * \rho^*)$. The last inequality in (4.17) follows because $|x|^{-1}$ is a positive definite kernel. Note that ϕ is a function of |x| only and

$$\phi(r) = zr^{-1} - r^{-1} \int_{0}^{r} 4\pi s^{2} \rho *(s) ds - \int_{r}^{\infty} 4\pi s \rho *(s) ds.$$

Thus

$$\frac{\partial \phi}{\partial r} = \frac{1}{r^2} \left(-z + \int_0^r 4\pi s^2 \rho^*(s) ds \right) \leq (\lambda - z) r^{-2} \leq 0.$$

Hence $\phi=\phi^*$ and the theorem follows from (4.15) and (4.17). |z|Corollary 4.12: Let $V=z|x|^{-1}$ and let ψ be the minimizing ψ for $\xi(\cdot,V)$ in I_{λ} with $\lambda \le z$. Then $\psi \in S$, i.e. ψ is a symmetric decreasing function of |x|.

<u>Proof</u>: For every $\psi \in I_{\lambda}$ ($\lambda \le z$) we have $\xi(\psi^*, V) \le \xi(\psi, V)$ because of (4.14), (4.16) and Theorem 4.11.

We now study the existence of a minimizing solution in $\mathbf{I}_{\lambda\lambda}$:

Theorem 4.13: Let $V = z |x|^{-1}$. Then for $\lambda \le z$ the minimizing ψ for $\xi(\cdot, V)$ on I_{λ} has $\int \psi^2 dx = \lambda$.

<u>Proof:</u> Suppose that the minimizing ψ has $\int \psi^2 dx = \lambda_0 < \lambda$. Then by Corollary 4.5 ψ minimizes $\xi(\cdot, V)$ on all of I, so by Theorem 4.8 the corresponding ϕ_0 is 0. Thus ψ obeys

$$- C_{W}^{\Delta \psi} + (\psi^{2})^{2/3} \psi - \phi \psi = 0 , \qquad (4.18)$$

where

$$\phi = z |x|^{-1} - ((\psi^2) * |x|^{-1}). \tag{4.19}$$

Since $\lambda_{0} < z$, $\phi \ge 0$ and thus (since $\psi \ge 0$)

$$-C_{W}\Delta\psi + (\psi^{2})^{2/3}\psi \ge 0. \tag{4.20a}$$

Let $q = r^{-3/2}$ so that for r > 0

$$\Delta q = 3q^{7/3}/4.$$
 (4.20b)

By theorems 4.10 and 4.12, ψ is strictly positive. Let us fix R>0. We will show

$$\psi - cq \ge 0 \quad \text{for } r > R, \tag{4.21}$$

where $0 < c < min\ (R^{3/2}\psi(R), (3C_W/4)^{3/4})$. Let $D = \{x \mid \psi - cq < 0\} \bigcap \{r > R\}.$ Note that $\psi - cq$ is continuous for r > R because $\psi \in C^O(R^3)$ (Theorem 4.8 bi)).

Therefore D is open. On D,

$$-C_W \Delta (\psi - cq) \ge cq^{7/3} (\frac{3C_W}{4} - c^{4/3})$$
 0,

i.e. ψ -cq is superharmonic on D and ψ -cq \geq 0 on ∂ D \cup $\{\infty\}$. Hence by the maximum modulus principle it follows that D is empty and ψ \geq cq for r>R. This in turn implies

$$\int \psi^2 dx \ge 4\pi c^2 \int_{R}^{\infty} \frac{dr}{r} = \infty$$

which contradicts $\int \psi^2 dx = \lambda_0 \langle z. | - |$

Remark: The only fact that is missing in order to prove this theorem for a general V of the form (4.4) is that φ is not necessarily non-negative for those V. However, much less is required to prove this theorem. It is enough to have a bound of the form $\varphi \geq -\frac{a}{r^2}$ for some positive constant a. We conjecture this bound is true as long as $\lambda \! \leq \! z$.

To conclude this section we give a remark about the chemical potential - $\varphi_{_{\hbox{\scriptsize O}}}.$ It is clear from (4.2) that

$$\mathbb{E}\left(\lambda,V\right) \ \geq \ \inf \ \{C_{\widetilde{W}} \int (\nabla \psi)^2 \mathrm{d} \mathbf{x} \ - \ \int V \psi^2 \mathrm{d} \mathbf{x} \ \big| \ \psi \epsilon \mathbf{I}_{\partial \lambda} \} \ = \ - \ \lambda \mathbf{z}^2 / (4C_{\widetilde{W}}) \,. \ (4.22)$$

(This is in fact the variational principle for the Hydrogen atom in Quantum Mechanics.) Now, consider the trial function $\psi_A(r) = \left(\lambda A^3/\pi\right)^{1/2} \exp\left(-Ar\right), \ A>0 \ , \ so \ that \ \int \psi_A^2 dx = \lambda \, .$ Minimizing the energy with respect to A we get

$$E(\lambda, V) \leq \min\{\xi(\psi_{A}, V) | A>0\}$$

$$= - (\lambda/4C_{W}) (z - \frac{5\lambda}{16})^{2} / (1 + C_{O}\lambda^{2/3}),$$
(4.23)

which holds for $z \ge 5\lambda/16$. Here $C_0 = (3/5)^4\pi^{-2/3}$. Combining equations (4.22) and (4.23) we get

$$\lim_{\lambda \downarrow 0} (E(\lambda, V)/\lambda) = -z^2/(4C_W)$$

i.e.
$$\phi_{O} (\lambda=0) = z^{2}/(4c_{W})$$
,

Since ϕ_{O} is decreasing in λ we have $\phi_{O} \in [0,z^{2}/(4C_{W})]$.

4.5. Components of the Energy, Virial Theorem, Scaling and $\overline{\text{Pressure}}$

To finish this chapter, we give a brief look at the components of the energy and their relations. Let us denote

$$E_{W} \equiv C_{W} \int (\nabla \psi)^{2} dx , \qquad (4.24)$$

where ψ is the minimizing ψ in I_{λ} . K, A, R and U are defined as in TF theory (see Chapter 2). Let

$$e(\lambda, V) = E(\lambda, V) + \sum_{1 \le i \le j \le k} z_{i}z_{j}|R_{i}-R_{j}|^{-1}.$$
 (4.25)

First, we remark that e is continuous in the nuclear charges \mathbf{z}_i and it has continuous derivatives with respect to the \mathbf{z}_i . Moreover,

$$\sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i \frac{\partial e}{\partial z_i} = -A + 2U. \tag{4.26}$$

To prove this fact one proceeds as in the proof of the Feynman-Hellman theorem in TF theory (see [32], Theorem II.16). The same holds for the dependence of e on C_W ; namely, e is continuous in C_W and it has continuous derivative. Moreover,

$$C_{W} \frac{\partial e}{\partial C_{W}} = E_{W}. \tag{4.27}$$

Theorem 4.14 (Virial theorem for TFW): If $V = z|x|^{-1}$ and ψ minimizes $\xi(\cdot,V)$ on any I_{λ} then

$$2(E_W + K) = A-R.$$
 (4.28)

<u>Proof:</u> Proceed as in the proof of the Virial Theorem in TF. Let $\psi_{\mu}(r) = \mu^{3/2}\psi(\mu r)$. Then $E(\mu) = \mu^2 (E_W + K) - \mu A + \mu R$. Because of the minimization property of ψ , $\frac{\partial E}{\partial \mu} \Big|_{\mu=1} = 0$ and therefore (4.28) follows.

Theorem 4.15: Let ψ minimize $\xi(\cdot,V)$ on any I_{λ} . Then for V given by (4.4),

$$(5/3)K + E_W = A - 2R - \phi_O \lambda.$$
 (4.29)

<u>Proof:</u> Either use the TFW equation (4.13) or directly the minimization property of ψ as in ([32], Theorem II.23).

In particular, for the TFW atom (4.28) implies

$$e = - (K + E_{W}).$$

Scaling Properties: It is straight forward to check that for $\ell > 0$, the minimizing ψ satisfies the following scaling relation,

$$\psi(\underline{z}, C_W, \lambda, \ell R_{\underline{i}}; \mathbf{x}) = \ell^3 \quad \psi(\overline{\ell}_{\underline{z}}, \ell^2 C_W, \ell^3 \lambda, R_{\underline{i}}; \frac{\mathbf{x}}{\ell}).$$

This in turn implies that under a uniform dilation $R_{\dot{1}} \to \ell R_{\dot{1}} \ (\ell > 0) \ \text{the energy e scales as follows:}$

$$e(\ell) \equiv e(\underline{z}, C_{W}, \lambda, \ell R_{\underline{i}}) = \ell^{-7} e \left(\ell^{3} \underline{z}, \ell^{2} C_{W}, \ell^{3} \lambda, R_{\underline{i}}\right). \quad (4.30)$$

Pressure: It might be important for the discussion of binding within the TFW theory to have an expression for the pressure. (This was indeed the case in the TF theory. See [5], for example). The pressure corresponding to a uniform dilation is defined by [32,5],

$$P = -\frac{1}{3\ell^2} \quad \frac{\partial e}{\partial \ell} \Big|_{\ell=1}$$

Because of the scaling relation (4.30) we can write

$$\frac{\partial e}{\partial \ell} \Big|_{\ell=1} = -7e + 3 \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i \frac{\partial e}{\partial z_i} + 2C_W \frac{\partial e}{\partial C_W} + 3\lambda \frac{\partial e}{\partial \lambda}$$
 (4.31)

Equations (4.26) and (4.27) and the Theorem 4.8 imply

$$P = \frac{1}{3} (7e - 6U + 3A - 2E_W + 3\phi_0 \lambda)$$
 (4.32)

Using the virial theorem 4.15 and equation (4.32) we get

$$P = \frac{1}{3} [e + (E_W + K)]$$
 (4.33)

Remarks: (i) P=0 for an atom, as it should be!

(ii) If $C_W^{=0}$, expression (4.33) reduces to the TF pressure $P=\frac{1}{3}$ (e + K).

CHAPTER 5: THE FIRSOV'S VARIATIONAL PRINCIPLE

It is a well known fact that convex variational principles have a dual variational problem associated with them. The dual P* of a minimization problem P is defined as a maximization problem having the same value, i.e. satisfying min(P) = max(P*). Moreover the function space over which P* is maximized is taken to be the dual of the function space over which P is minimized. There is a systematic procedure to construct a dual problem given the original problem. For a review see [40] and ([15], Chapter III). Dual problems are useful as a variational tool for finding lower bounds to the original minimization problem. These bounds, together with upper bounds provided by the minimization problem itself, allow us to get estimates on the value of min(P).

It is natural, therefore, to ask what is the dual of the TF variational principle. (We consider here only the TF variational principle without the constraint $\int \rho = \lambda$ so that when V is of the form (2.2) the minimum is attained for the neutral configuration). This dual problem was first introduced by Firsov [18] who was interested in computing estimates for the energy of a two-center molecule in TF. The Firsov's variational principle is defined by the functional

$$\mathcal{F}$$
 (f) $= -(8\pi)^{-1} \int (\nabla f)^2 dx - (2/5) \int (V-f)^{5/2} dx$. (5.1)

One is interested in $\sup \mathcal{F}(f)$, where the \sup is taken over all f such that $\int (\nabla f)^2 < \infty$, $\int (V-f)^{5/2} dx < \infty$ and $V-f \geq 0$. The coefficients $(8\pi)^{-1}$ and (2/5) are chosen in such a way that $\sup -\mathcal{F}(f) = \inf \xi_{TF}(\rho)$. A heuristic derivation of the Firsov's principle starting from the original TF functional, using the systematic approach of [15], is given in the Appendix to this chapter.

After the first applications by Firsov himself [19], the Firsov's principle has been repeatedly used to compute estimates on the energies of molecules in TF and in particular on the two-body atomic potential. For a review of results in this direction we refer to the book by I. M. Torrens ([48], Chapter II). This principle can also be applied to compute the long range behavior of the two-body atomic potential. (For references to this, see [11]).

In section 5.1 we establish the connection between the Firsov's principle and the TF equation. The existence and uniqueness of solutions to the TF equation [32] will then imply the existence of a unique maximizing f for $\mathcal{F}(\cdot)$. In section 5.2 we study properties of this solution.

5.1. Existence and Uniqueness of a Solution.

Instead of considering the functional (5.1) with the constraint $V \geq f$, we will rather consider

$$\hat{\mathcal{F}}$$
 (f) = - $(8\pi)^{-1} \int (\nabla f)^2 dx - \frac{2}{5} \int [(V-f)^2]^{5/4} dx$ (5.2)

without that restriction. It will turn out that the maximizing f for $\hat{\mathbf{r}}(\cdot)$ satisfies $V \geq f$ and therefore it also maximizes (5.1). This also allows one to consider more general trial functions when estimating $\sup \tilde{\mathbf{r}}$.

Let $V(x) = \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i |x-R_i|^{-1}$, $z_i>0$. (More general V's can be considered by suitably changing the function space B, below).

Consider the function space

$$B = \{f \mid \nabla f \in L^2, f \in L^4\}$$
.

B is a Banach space with respect to the norm

$$||f||_{B} \equiv ||\nabla f||_{2} + ||f||_{4}$$

Moreover B is reflexive. (The same proof of the reflexitity of the Sobolev spaces [1] can be applied to B).

We want to maximize $\hat{F}(\cdot)$ over the set

$$I = \{f \mid f \in B, ||V-f||_{5/2} < \infty \}$$
.

Let us first establish the connection between the variational principle and its Euler equation.

Theorem 5.1: If f maximizes \hat{F} on I then f satisfies (strongly) the Euler equation

$$-(4\pi)^{-1}\Delta f - [(V-f)^{2}]^{\frac{1}{4}} (V-f) = 0 . (5.3)$$

<u>Proof:</u> By replacing f by f + α h in (5.2), with h ϵ \lesssim (Schwartz space) and computing the derivative of \hat{F} (f + α h) at α =0 we prove that a maximizing solution for \hat{F} (·) satisfies (in distributional sense) the equation (5.3). Since f ϵ L⁴, f ϵ L²_{loc}. Also (V-f) $^{3/2}$ ϵ L²_{loc} and therefore Δ f ϵ L²_{loc}. By the Sobolev's imbedding theorem f ϵ C^O(R³). Adding and substracting a constant times f in (5.3) we can write

$$f = Y_e * [(V-f)^{3/2} + ef],$$
 (5.4)

where $Y_e = |x|^{-1} \exp(-(4\pi e)^{\frac{1}{2}}|x|)$ is the kernel for $(-(4\pi)^{-1}\Delta + e)^{-1}$. Since V-f ϵ L^{5/2}, $(V-f)^{3/2}$ ϵ L^{5/3} and, because Y_e ϵ L^{5/2}, we have that Y_e * $(V-f)^{3/2}$ is continuous and goes to zero at infinity [41]. By the same reason, since f ϵ L⁴ and Y_e ϵ L^{4/3} f is continuous and goes to zero at infinity. Moreover, by exactly the same analysis of ([32], Theorem IV.5) f is C^{∞} away from the R_i 's. (See also Theorem 4.9 of this thesis). Hence f is a strong solution to (5.3).

Theorem 5.2: There is a unique maximizing solution for $\hat{\mathcal{F}}(\cdot)$ on I.

<u>Proof:</u> Uniqueness follows immediately from the strong concavity of β . As for the existence, set ϕ = V-f. Because of (5.3) ϕ satisfies the TF equation

$$-(4\pi)^{-1} \Delta \phi + \phi^{3/2} = \sum_{i=1}^{k} z_i \delta(x-R_i)$$

which has a unique solution ([32], Theorem II.20). Then Theorem 5.2 follows from Theorem 5.1.

5.2. Properties of the maximizing solution.

We now check that in fact $0 \le f \le V$ and, therefore, the maximizing solution for $f(\cdot)$ also maximizes the Firsov's principle.

Theorem 5.3: The maximizing f for $\hat{\mathcal{F}}(\cdot)$ satisfies:

$$0 \le f \le V$$
.

<u>Proof:</u> (i) f<V: Let g = V-f. Since $f \in C^O(\mathbb{R}^3)$, g is continuous away from the R_i 's. Let $S = \{x \mid g(x) < 0\}$. S is disjoint from the R_i and since g is continuous, S is open. Moreover, g=0 on $\partial S \cup \{\infty\}$. On S, $-\Delta g \geq 0$, i.e. g is superharmonic on S. By the maximum modulus principle S is

therefore empty and V>f everywhere. (ii) $0 \le f$: As in Chapter 4 (below equation 4.4) $\int (\nabla |f|)^2 \le \int (\nabla f)^2$. Also $\int (V-|f|)^{5/2} \le \int (V-f)^{5/2}$.

Finally, an easy computation shows that the TF and Firsov's principles have the same value, i.e.

$$\inf_{\rho} \xi_{\text{TF}} (\rho, V) = \sup_{f} - \mathcal{F}(f).$$

APPENDIX

We derive here the Firsov's principle from the TF functional by using the approach of Temam and Ekeland [15]. This derivation is heuristic and applies not only to the neutral case but to the subneutral case as well.

Consider the following family of perturbed variational problems:

$$\xi(\rho,p) = \frac{3}{5} \int \rho^{5/3} dx - \int V \rho dx + \frac{1}{2} \int (\rho+p) (x) |x-y|^{-1} (\rho+p) (y) dxdy$$

in such a way that

$$\xi(\rho, p = 0) = \xi_{p_F}(\rho).$$

Consider the Legendre transform to $\xi(\rho,p)$, namely

$$\xi^*(\rho^*, p^*) = \sup_{\rho, p} [\int \rho \rho^* dx + \int p p^* dx - \xi(\rho, p)]$$
 (5.5)

Then the dual variational problem (Firsov's principle) is defined by the functional

$$\xi_{\text{Firsov}}^*$$
 (p*) $\equiv -\xi^*(0,p^*)$. (5.6)

The supremum on ρ is taken only over the set $\{\rho \mid \rho \geq 0, \ \int \rho = \lambda\}$.

From (5.5) and (5.6) we get,

$$-\xi_{\text{Firsov}}^{*}(p^{*}) = \sup_{\rho \geq 0, \int \rho = \lambda} \left[-\frac{3}{5} \int \rho^{5/3} + \int V\rho - \frac{1}{2} \int \rho(x) |x-y|^{-1} \rho(y) + I(\rho) \right],$$
(5.7)

where

$$I(\rho) = \sup_{p} \left[\int_{-p} p - \int_{p} \rho(x) |x-y|^{-1} p(x) - \frac{1}{2} \int_{-p} p(x) |x-y|^{-1} p(y) \right].$$

The supremum of this last expression is attained for p satisfying

$$p^*(x) - \int [\rho(y) + p(y)] |x-y|^{-1} dy = 0$$

or equivalently

$$-(4\pi)^{-1} \Delta p^* = (\rho + p),$$

and the value of $I(\rho)$ is

$$I(\rho) = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int (\nabla p^*)^2 dx - \int \rho p^* dx + \frac{1}{2} \int \rho(y) |x-y|^{-1} \rho(x) dx dy.$$

Replacing this back into eq. (5.7) we get,

$$-\xi_{\text{Firsov}}^* (\rho) = \sup_{\rho \ge 0, \int \rho = \lambda} \left[-\frac{3}{5} \int \rho^{5/3} + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int (\nabla p^*)^2 \right]$$

$$\int (\nabla p^*) \rho ds$$

The supremum here is attained for ρ satisfying

$$+ \rho^{2/3} = (\nabla - p^* - \mu)_+$$

where $(x)_{+} = x \text{ if } x \ge 0 \text{ and } (x)_{+} = 0 \text{ if } x < 0.$

Finally, the expression for ξ_{Firsov}^* (p*) is

$$-\xi_{\text{Firsov}}^{*} (p^{*}) = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int (\nabla p^{*})^{2} + \frac{2}{5} \int (\nabla - p^{*} - \mu)_{+}^{5/2} + \mu \lambda \quad (5.8)$$

Remarks: (i) For the general model defined by (2.1) the Firsov's functional should read

$$-\xi_{\rm Firsov}^*({\bf p}^*) \; = \; \frac{1}{8\pi} \; \int (\nabla {\bf p}^*)^2 \; + \; \int \; {\bf f}^*(({\bf V} - {\bf p}^* - \mu)_+) \; + \; \mu \lambda \, , \label{eq:firsov}$$

where f* is the Legendre transform of f.

(ii) It remains as an open problem to study the variational principle

for the case $\mu\neq 0$. (The case $\mu=0$ was studied in this chapter), and its connection with the original problem. In particular one should prove

$$\inf_{p} \xi_{TF}(\rho) = \sup_{p^*} \xi_{Firsov}^*(p^*)$$

REFERENCES

- [1] R. A. Adams, Sobolev Spaces, Academic Press N.Y. 1975.
- [2] N. L. Balazs, Formation of Stable Molecules within the statistical theory of atoms, Phys. Rev. <u>156</u> (1967) 42-47.
- [3] J. R. Baxter, Inequalities for Potentials of Particle Systems, Preprint 1978.
- [4] R. Benguria and E. H. Lieb, Many-Body Atomic Potentials in TF theory, Annals of Physics (N.Y.) 110 (1978) 34-45.
- [5] R. Benguria and E. H. Lieb, The Positivity of the Pressure in TF theory, Comm. Math. Phys. $\underline{63}$ (1978) 193-218.
- [6] Ph. Benilan and H. Brezis, Non-linear Problems related to the TF equation, (to appear).
- [7] M. S. Berger, Non-linearity and Functional Analysis: Lectures on Non-linear Problems in Mathematical Analysis, Acad. Press. N.Y. 1977.
- [8] F. Bloch, Bemerkung zur Elektronentheorie des Ferromagnetismus and der Elektrinschen Leitfähigkeit, Z. Physik 57, (1929), 545-555.
- [9] H. Brezis, "Non-Linear Problems Related to the TF equation" in Contemporary Developments in Continuum Mechanics and Partial Differential Equations, North Holland (1979).
 - [10] H. Brezis, Private Communication.
- [11] H. Brezis and E. H. Lieb, Long Range Atomic Potentials in TF theory, to appear in Comm. Math. Physics.
- [12] L. A. Cafarelli and A. Friedman, The Free Boundary in the Thomas-Fermi Atomic Model, Preprint 1978.
- [13] P. A. M. Dirac, Note on Exchange Phenomena in the Thomas Atom, Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc. 26 (1930), 376-385.
- [14] I. Ekeland, Sur la contrôle optimal de systèmes gouvernés par des équations elliptiques, Journal of functional analysis 9 (1972), 1-62.
- [15] I. Ekeland and R. Temam, Analyse Convexe et Problemes Variationnels, Dunod. Paris 1974.

- [16] E. Fermi, Un metodo statistico per la determinazione di alcune prioritè dell'atome, Rend. Accad. Naz. Lincei $\underline{6}$ (1927), 602-607.
- [17] A. Fetter and J. D. Walecks, Quantum Theory of Many Particle Systems, MacGraw-Hill 1971. [page 32, prob. 1.6].
- [18] O. B. Firsov, Interaction Energy of Atoms for Small Nuclear Separations, Zh. Eksperim. i Teor. Fiz. 32 (1957) 1464. [English translation: Soviet Phys. JETP 5 (1957), 1192-1196].
- [19] O. B. Firsov, Calculation of the Interaction Potential of Atoms, Soviet Phys. JETP 6 (1958), 534-537. Also, Scattering of Ions by Atoms, Soviet Phys. JETP 7 (1958), 308-311.
- [20] P. Gombás, Die Statistische Theorie des Atoms und ikre Anwendungen, Springer Verlag. Berlin 1949.
- [21] P. Gombás, Statistiche Behandlungsweise des N₂-Moleküls, Acta Phys. Hung. 9 (1959), 461-469.
- [22] P. Gombás, On the inhomogeneity correction of the kinetic energy of a Fermion gas, Phys. Letters A28 (1969), 585-586.
- [23] J. Goodisman, Modified Weizsäcker Corrections in Thomas-Fermi theories, Phys. Rev. A1 (1970), 1574-1576.
- [24] E. Hille, On the TF equation, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. 62 (1969), 7-10.
- [25] A. D. Ioffe and V. M. Tihomirov, Extension of variational problems, Transactions of the Moscow Math. Soc. 18 (1968), 207-273.
- [26] D. A. Kirzhnitz, Y. E. Lozovik, G. V. Shpatakovskaya, Statistical Model of Matter, Usp. Fiz. Nauka 117 (1975), 3-47.
- [27] A. S. Kompaneets and E. S. Pavlovskii, The Self-consistent Field equations in an Atom, Soviet Phys. JETP $\frac{4}{2}$ (1957), 328-336.
- [28] E. H. Lieb, The Stability of Matter, Rev. Mod. Phys. 48 (1976), 553-569.
- [29] E. H. Lieb, Existence and Uniqueness of minimizing solutions of Choquard's non linear equation, Stud. Appl. Math, 57 (1977) 93-105.

- [30] E. H. Lieb, A lower bound for Coulomb Energies, to be published in Phys. Lett. A.
- [31] E. H. Lieb and B. Simon, Thomas-Fermi theory revisited, Phys. Rev. Lett. 31 (1973), 681-683.
- [32] E. H. Lieb and B. Simon, The Thomas-Fermi theory of atoms, molecules and solids, Adv. in Math. 23 (1977), 22-116.
- [33] E. H. Lieb and B. Simon, The Hartree-Fock Theory for Coulomb Systems, Commun. Math. Phys. 53 (1977) 185-194.
- [34] E. H. Lieb and W. Thirring, Bound for the kinetic energy of fermions which proves the stability of matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 33 (1975), 687-689, Errata 1116.
- [35] J. M. Luttinger and R. Friedberg, Some Functional Inequalities with application to Green's Function, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 61 (1976), 187-195.
- [36] N. H. March, The Thomas-Fermi approximation in Quantum Mechanics, Advances in Physics 6 (1957), 1-98.
- [37] C. B. Morrey Jr., Multiple Integrals in the Calculus of Variations, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1966.
- [38] M. Reed and B. Simon, Method of Modern Math. Phys. Vol. 1, Functional Analysis, Acad. Press. (N.Y.) 1972.
- [39] M. Reed and B. Simon, Methods of Modern Math. Physics, Vol. 2, Fourier Analysis and Self-Adjointness, Acad. Press (N.Y.) 1975.
- [40] R. T. Rockafellar, Convex Analysis, Princeton University Press, 1970.
- [41] W. Rudin, Fourier Analysis on Groups, Interscience, N.Y., 1962.
- [42] J. M. Sheldon, Use of the Statistical Field Approximation in Molecular Physics, Phys. Rev. 99 (1955), 1291-1301.
- [43] B. Simon, Lower Semi-continuity of Positive Quadratic Forms, Proc. of the Royal Soc. Edinburgh 79 (1977) 267-273.
- [44] A. Sommerfeld, Asymptotische Integration der Differential Gleichung des Thomas-Fermischen Atoms, Z. Physik 78 (1932), 283-308.

- [45] G. Stampacchia, Équations Elliptiques du second ordre à coefficients discontinus, Seminaire de Mathematiques Supérieures nº16, Les Presses de L'Université de Montréal, 1965.
- [46] E. Teller, On the Stability of Molecules in the Thomas-Fermi theory, Rev. Mod. Phys. 34 (1962), 627-631.
- [47] L. H. Thomas, The Calculation of Atomic Fields, Proc. Cambridge Phil. Soc. 23 (1927), 542-548.
- [48] I. M. Torrens, Interatomic Potentials, Acad. Press, N.Y. 1972.
- [49] C. F. von Weizsäcker, Zur Theorie der Kernmassen, Z. Physik 96 (1935), 431-458.

TO: Physics Department Faculty

May 3, 1979

FROM: Vel L. Fitch

The final public cral examination of Rafael Benguria will take place on Wednesday, May 9, 197° at 9:00 a.m. in Room 202 (Chairman's Conference Room). The examination committee will consist of Professors Simon, Treiman, Alzenman and Bennett . Any other member of the University wishing to attend the examination may do so.